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SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

City of Seattle
King County
January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015

SECTION | - SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS

The results of our audit of the City of Seattle are summarized below in accordance with Title 2
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).

Financial Statements

We issued an unmodified opinion on the fair presentation of the financial statements of the
governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate
discretely presented component units and remaining fund information in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).

Internal Control over Financial Reporting:

o Significant Deficiencies: We reported no deficiencies in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be significant deficiencies.

e Material Weaknesses: We identified no deficiencies that we consider to be material
weaknesses.

We noted no instances of noncompliance that were material to the financial statements of the
City.

Federal Awards

Internal Control over Major Programs:

¢ Significant Deficiencies: We identified deficiencies in the design or operation of internal
control over major federal programs that we consider to be significant deficiencies.

e Material Weaknesses: We identified deficiencies that we consider to be material
weaknesses.

We issued an unmodified opinion on the City’s compliance with requirements applicable to each
of its major federal programs.
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We reported findings that are required to be disclosed in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a).

Identification of Major Federal Programs:

The following programs were selected as major programs in our audit of compliance in
accordance with the Uniform Guidance.

CEDA No. Program or Cluster Title

14.218 Community Development Block Grants/Entitlement Grants
14.239 Home Investment Partnerships Program

14.267 Continuum of Care Program

16.922 Equitable Sharing Program

93.778 Medical Assistance Program

The dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs, as prescribed by
the Uniform Guidance, was $2,560,323.

The City did not qualify as a low-risk auditee under the Uniform Guidance.

SECTION Il - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

None reported.

SECTION IlIl - FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED
COSTS

See finding 2015-001 and 2015-002.
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SCHEDULE OF FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND
QUESTIONED COSTS

2015-001

City of Seattle
King County
January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015

The City did not have adequate internal controls in place to
ensure compliance with federal subrecipient monitoring
requirements.

CFDA Number and Title: 14.218 Community Development
Block Grants/Entitlement Grants
Federal Grantor Name: U. S. Department of Housing and

Urban Development

Federal Award/Contract Number: B10MC530005, B11MC530005,
B12MC530005, B13MC530005,
B14MC530005, B15MC530005

Pass-through Entity Name: NA
Pass-through Award/Contract NA
Number:

Questioned Cost Amount: $928,647

Description of Condition

The objective of the Community Development Block Grant program is to develop
viable urban communities by providing decent housing, a suitable living
environment, and expanding economic opportunities, principally for persons of
low and moderate income. The City of Seattle spent $11.6 million in grant funds
from the U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. The City’s
Human Service Department passed on $3.8 million to five subrecipients during
2015 to provide homeless assistance to City’s residents.

Federal regulations require the City to perform risk evaluations to evaluate
subrecipients’ risk of noncompliance to determine the appropriate level of
monitoring. It also requires the City to monitor the subrecipients’ activities to
ensure that the subawards are used for authorized purposes which can be
accomplished by either requiring subrecipient invoices to contain supporting
documentation or reviewing supporting documentation during on-site visits. That
monitoring, particularly the on-site visits, is important to ensure that the
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subrecipients’ administration of programs are appropriate and in compliance with
applicable requirements, including those related to allowable and supported costs.

The City requires the subrecipients to submit detailed general ledger reports as
part of the request for payment and has a policy for semi-annual on-site visits to
review documentation included in the report to ensure the costs are allowable and
supported.

The City’s process for subrecipient monitoring is not working as intended.
During our audit, we found:

e The Human Service Department did not perform risk assessments for the
three subrecipients we selected for review.

e For two of the three subrecipients reviewed, the Human Service
Department did not obtain supporting documentation with the requests for
payment, nor did they perform on-site visits, where a review of
documentation to support the costs reimbursed would have been done.

We consider these deficiencies in internal controls to be significant deficiencies.

Cause of Condition

The Department was not aware that risk evaluations are required for all
subrecipients receiving money from federal awards.

The Grants and Contracts Specialists who are responsible for approving
subrecipient payments and performing on-site visits did not have the necessary
training and resources to perform adequate reviews.

Effect of Condition and Questioned Costs

Without adequate internal controls in place, the Department cannot ensure that the
subrecipients used the program funds in accordance with the grant agreement and
federal requirements.

The Human Service Department paid $928,647 to two subrecipients without
performing on-site visits or requiring adequate supporting documentation for
costs incurred. As a result, we are questioning the total amount paid to these
subrecipients.

Recommendation

We recommend that the Department establish internal controls to ensure
compliance with the subrecipient monitoring requirements including:
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e Conduct a risk assessment to evaluate each subrecipient's risk of
noncompliance for purposes of determining the appropriate monitoring
activities.

e Provide training to program specialists to ensure they have an adequate
understanding of federal subrecipient monitoring requirements and
Department policies.

e Require subrecipients to provide adequate documentation to support the
costs incurred or perform on-site visits that includes a review of source
documentation.

City’s Response

The City understands the Auditor’s concerns regarding inadequate internal
controls in place and is taking immediate and long-term corrective actions to
ensure compliance with federal subrecipient monitoring requirements going
forward.

Auditor’s Remarks

We thank the City for its assistance during the audit and will follow up on
corrective actions taken during the next audit.

Applicable Laws and Regulations

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants defines significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in its Codification of Statements on Auditing
Standards, section 935, as follows:

.11 For purposes of adapting GAAS to a compliance audit, the
following terms have the meanings attributed as follows:

Deficiency in internal control over compliance. A deficiency
in internal control over compliance exists when the design or
operation of a control over compliance does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
noncompliance on a timely basis. A deficiency in design exists
when (a) a control necessary to meet the control objective is
missing, or (b) an existing control is not properly designed so
that, even if the control operates as designed, the control
objective would not be met. A deficiency in operation exists
when a properly designed control does not operate as designed
or the person performing the control does not possess the
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necessary authority or competence to perform the control
effectively. . .

Material weakness in internal control over compliance. A
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control
over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that
material noncompliance with a compliance requirement will
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.
In this section, a reasonable possibility exists when the
likelihood of the event is either reasonably possible or probable
as defined as follows:

Reasonably possible. The chance of the future event or
events occurring is more than remote but less than likely.

Remote. The chance of the future event or events occurring
is slight.

Probable. The future event or events are likely to occur.

Significant deficiency in internal control over compliance.
A deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control over compliance that is less severe than a material
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Title 2 Code of Federal Regulations Section 200.303 Internal controls.

The non-Federal entity must:

(a) Establish and maintain effective internal control over
the Federal award that provides reasonable assurance that
the non-Federal entity is managing the Federal award in
compliance with Federal statutes, regulations, and the terms
and conditions of the Federal award. These internal
controls should be in compliance with guidance in
“Standards for Internal Control in the Federal Government”
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States or
the “Internal Control Integrated Framework”, issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).

(b) Comply with Federal statutes, regulations, and the terms
and conditions of the Federal awards.
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Title 2 Code of Federal Regulations Subpart D Post Federal Award Requirements
Section 200.331 Requirements for pass-through entities states in part:

All pass-through entities must:

(b) Evaluate each subrecipient's risk of noncompliance with
Federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of the
subaward for purposes of determining the appropriate subrecipient
monitoring described in paragraphs (d) and (e) of this section,
which may include consideration of such factors as:

(1) The subrecipient's prior experience with the same or
similar subawards;

(2) The results of previous audits including whether or not
the subrecipient receives a Single Audit in accordance with
Subpart F—Audit Requirements of this part, and the extent
to which the same or similar subaward has been audited as
a major program;

(3) Whether the subrecipient has new personnel or new or
substantially changed systems; and

(4) The extent and results of Federal awarding agency
monitoring (e.g., if the subrecipient also receives Federal
awards directly from a Federal awarding agency).

(d) Monitor the activities of the subrecipient as necessary to ensure
that the subaward is used for authorized purposes, in compliance
with Federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of
the subaward; and that subaward performance goals are achieved.
Pass-through entity monitoring of the subrecipient must include:

(1) Reviewing financial and performance reports required
by the pass-through entity.

(2) Following-up and ensuring that the subrecipient takes
timely and appropriate action on all deficiencies pertaining
to the Federal award provided to the subrecipient from the
pass-through entity detected through audits, on-site
reviews, and other means.

(3) Issuing a management decision for audit findings
pertaining to the Federal award provided to the subrecipient
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from the pass-through entity as required by 8§200.521
Management decision.

(e) Depending upon the pass-through entity's assessment of risk
posed by the subrecipient (as described in paragraph (b) of this
section), the following monitoring tools may be useful for the pass-
through entity to ensure proper accountability and compliance with
program requirements and achievement of performance goals:

(1) Providing subrecipients with training and technical
assistance on program-related matters; and

(2) Performing on-site reviews of the subrecipient's
program operations;

(3) Arranging for agreed-upon-procedures engagements as
described in §200.425 Audit services.

() Verify that every subrecipient is audited as required by
SubpartF—Audit Requirements of this part when it is expected
that the subrecipient's Federal awards expended during the
respective fiscal year equaled or exceeded the threshold set forth in
§200.501 Audit requirements.

(9) Consider whether the results of the subrecipient's audits,
on-site reviews, or other monitoring indicate conditions that
necessitate adjustments to the pass-through entity's own
records.

(h) Consider taking enforcement action against
noncompliant subrecipients as described in 8§200.338
Remedies for noncompliance of this part and in program
regulations.

Title 2 Code of Federal Regulations Subpart E Cost Principles Sections
200.400 through 200.403 General Provisions and Basic Considerations
states in part:

§200.400 Policy guide.

The application of these cost principles is based on the
fundamental premises that:
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(@) The non-Federal entity is responsible for the efficient and
effective administration of the Federal award through the
application of sound management practices.

(b) The non-Federal entity assumes responsibility for
administering Federal funds in a manner consistent with
underlying agreements, program objectives, and the terms and
conditions of the Federal award.

(c) The non-Federal entity, in recognition of its own unique
combination of staff, facilities, and experience, has the primary
responsibility for employing whatever form of sound organization
and management techniques may be necessary in order to assure
proper and efficient administration of the Federal award.

(d) The application of these cost principles should require no
significant changes in the internal accounting policies and practices
of the non-Federal entity. However, the accounting practices of the
non-Federal entity must be consistent with these cost principles
and support the accumulation of costs as required by the principles,
and must provide for adequate documentation to support costs
charged to the Federal award.

§200.402 Composition of costs.

Total cost. The total cost of a Federal award is the sum of the
allowable direct and allocable indirect costs less any applicable
credits.

8200.403 Factors affecting allowability of costs.

Except where otherwise authorized by statute, costs must meet the
following general criteria in order to be allowable under Federal
awards:

(a) Be necessary and reasonable for the performance of the
Federal award and be allocable thereto under these
principles.

(b) Conform to any limitations or exclusions set forth in
these principles or in the Federal award as to types or
amount of cost items.
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(c) Be consistent with policies and procedures that apply
uniformly to both federally-financed and other activities of
the non-Federal entity.

(d) Be accorded consistent treatment. A cost may not be
assigned to a Federal award as a direct cost if any other cost
incurred for the same purpose in like circumstances has
been allocated to the Federal award as an indirect cost.

(e) Be determined in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP), except, for state and local
governments and Indian tribes only, as otherwise provided
for in this part.

() Be adequately documented. See also 8§§200.300
Statutory and national policy requirements through 200.309
Period of performance of this part.
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SCHEDULE OF FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND
QUESTIONED COSTS

2015-002

City of Seattle
King County
January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015

The City did not have adequate internal controls in place to
ensure compliance with federal subrecipient monitoring
requirements.

CFDA Number and Title: 14.267 Continuum of Care Program

Federal Grantor Name: U.S. Department of Housing and
Urban Development (HUD)

Federal Award/Contract Number: Multiple awards

Pass-through Entity Name: NA

Pass-through Award/Contract NA

Number:

Questioned Cost Amount: $1,566,880

Background

The City of Seattle’s Human Service Department administers the Continuum of
Care Program. This program is designed to promote communitywide commitment
to the goal of ending homelessness by providing housing and supportive services
to homeless individuals and families. The Department spent $11.4 million in
Continuum of Care funds, of which $10.6 million was passed on to subrecipients
who perform the primary activities of this program.

Description of Condition

Federal regulations require the City to monitor subrecipients’ activities to ensure
that subwards are used for authorized purposes which can be accomplished by
subrecipients submitting invoices containing supporting source documentation or
reviewing supporting source documentation during on-site visits.  That
monitoring, particularly the on-site visits, is important to ensure that
subrecipients’ administration of programs are appropriate and in compliance with
federal requirements, including those related to allowable costs and activities.
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During the current audit, we found:

e The Department utilized a monitoring log to track on-site visits for
subrecipients by project. However, the log excluded 36 of the 82 projects
during 2015. Without a complete and current log, the Department cannot
ensure site visits are performed and tracked for all subrecipients’ projects.

e The Department’s policy is to perform semi-annual site visits; however, it
did not perform on-site visits that included a fiscal review of invoices or
other documentation required to support the costs incurred for eight of the
16 projects reviewed. For the fiscal reviews that were conducted,
documentation was not always sufficiently complete to establish that site
visits were adequately performed.

We consider these control deficiencies to be material weaknesses.

Cause of Condition

The Grants and Contracts Specialists who perform on-site visits did not have the
necessary training and resources to perform adequate financial review.

Effect of Condition and Questioned Costs

By reimbursing subrecipients for costs claimed without receiving adequate
documentation or otherwise monitoring the subreceipients’ use of funding, the
City is unable to ensure costs charged to the grant are allowable. As a result, we
are questioning $1,566,880 of costs paid to eight subrecipient projects.

Recommendation

We recommend the Department establish internal controls to ensure compliance
with the subreceipient monitoring requirements including:

e Providing training to program specialists to ensure they have an adequate
understanding of federal subrecipient monitoring requirements and
Department policies.

e Requiring subrecipients to provide adequate documentation to support the
costs incurred or perform on-site visits that includes a review of source
documentation.

e Retaining sufficient documentation to demonstrate compliance with
federal subreceipient monitoring requirements.

City’s Response

The City understands the Auditor’s concerns regarding inadequate internal
controls in place and is taking immediate and long-term corrective actions to
ensure compliance with federal subrecipient monitoring requirements going
forward.
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Auditor’s Remarks

We thank the City for its assistance during the audit and will follow up on
corrective actions taken during the next audit.

Applicable Laws and Regulations

Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards
(Uniform Guidance) establishes reporting requirements for audit findings.

2 CFR 200.516 Audit Reporting, states in part:

(a) Audit findings reported. The auditor must report the following
as audit findings in a schedule of findings and questioned costs:

(1) Significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal
control over major programs and significant instances of abuse
relating to major programs. The auditor's determination of whether
a deficiency in internal control is a significant deficiency or
material weakness for the purpose of reporting an audit finding is
in relation to a type of compliance requirement for a major
program identified in the Compliance Supplement.

(2) Material noncompliance with the provisions of Federal statutes,
regulations, or the terms and conditions of Federal awards related
to a major program. The auditor's determination of whether a
noncompliance with the provisions of Federal statutes, regulations,
or the terms and conditions of Federal awards is material for the
purpose of reporting an audit finding is in relation to a type of
compliance requirement for a major program identified in the
compliance supplement.

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants defines significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in its Codification of Statements on Auditing
Standards, section 935, as follows:

.11 For purposes of adapting GAAS to a compliance audit, the following
terms have the meanings attributed as follows:

Deficiency in internal control over compliance. A deficiency
in internal control over compliance exists when the design or
operation of a control over compliance does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
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noncompliance on a timely basis. A deficiency in design exists
when (a) a control necessary to meet the control objective is
missing, or (b) an existing control is not properly designed so
that, even if the control operates as designed, the control
objective would not be met. A deficiency in operation exists
when a properly designed control does not operate as designed
or the person performing the control does not possess the
necessary authority or competence to perform the control
effectively . ..

Material weakness in internal control over compliance. A
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control
over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that
material noncompliance with a compliance requirement will
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.
In this section, a reasonable possibility exists when the
likelihood of the event is either reasonably possible or probable
as defined as follows:

Reasonably possible. The chance of the future event or
events occurring is more than remote but less than likely.

Remote. The chance of the future event or events occurring
is slight.

Probable. The future event or events are likely to occur.

Significant deficiency in internal control over
compliance. A deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance that is less
severe than a material weakness in internal control over
compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by
those charged with governance.

Title 2 Code of Federal Regulations Section 200.303 Internal controls.

The non-Federal entity must:

(a) Establish and maintain effective internal control over the
Federal award that provides reasonable assurance that the non-
Federal entity is managing the Federal award in compliance with
Federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of the
Federal award. These internal controls should be in compliance
with guidance in “Standards for Internal Control in the Federal
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Government” issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States or the “Internal Control Integrated Framework™, issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).

(b) Comply with Federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and
conditions of the Federal awards.

U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133 Subpart D--Federal
Agencies and Pass-Through Entities § .400 (d)

(d) Pass-through entity responsibilities. A pass-through entity shall
perform the following for the Federal awards it makes:

(1) Identify Federal awards made by informing each subrecipient of
CFDA title and number, award name and number, award year, if the
award is R&D, and name of Federal agency. When some of this
information is not available, the pass-through entity shall provide the
best information available to describe the Federal award.

(2) Advise subrecipients of requirements imposed on them by Federal
laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts or grant agreements
as well as any supplemental requirements imposed by the pass-
through entity.

(3) Monitor the activities of subrecipients as necessary to ensure that
Federal awards are used for authorized purposes in compliance with
laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts or grant agreements
and that performance goals are achieved.

(4) Ensure that subrecipients expending $300,000 ($500,000 forfiscal
years ending after December 31, 2003) or more in Federal awards
during the subrecipient's fiscal year have met the audit requirements
of this part for that fiscal year.

(5) Issue a management decision on audit findings within six months
after receipt of the subrecipient's audit report and ensure that the
subrecipient takes appropriate and timely corrective action.

(6) Consider whether subrecipient audits necessitate adjustment of the
pass-through entity's own records.

(7) Require each subrecipient to permit the pass-through entity and
auditors to have access to the records and financial statements as
necessary for the pass-through entity to comply with this part.
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24 CFR 85.20 Standards for Financial Management Systems.

(b) The financial management systems of other grantees and
subgrantees must meet the following standards:

(1) Financial reporting. Accurate, current, and complete
disclosure of the financial results of financially assisted
activities must be made in accordance with the financial
reporting requirements of the grant or subgrant.

(2) Accounting records. Grantees and subgrantees must
maintain records which adequately identify the source and
application of funds provided for financially-assisted
activities. These records must contain information pertaining
to grant or subgrant awards and authorizations, obligations,
unobligated balances, assets, liabilities, outlays or
expenditures, and income.

(3) Internal control. Effective control and accountability must
be maintained for all grant and subgrant cash, real and
personal property, and other assets. Grantees and subgrantees
must adequately safeguard all such property and must assure
that it is used solely for authorized purposes.

(4) Budget control. Actual expenditures or outlays must be
compared with budgeted amounts for each grant or subgrant.
Financial information must be related to performance or
productivity data, including the development of unit cost
information whenever appropriate or specifically required in
the grant or subgrant agreement. If unit cost data are required,
estimates based on available documentation will be accepted
whenever possible.

(5) Allowable cost. Applicable OMB cost principles, agency
program regulations, and the terms of grant and subgrant
agreements will be followed in determining the
reasonableness, allowability, and allowability of costs.

(6) Source documentation. Accounting records must be
supported by such source documentation as cancelled checks,
paid bills, payrolls, time and attendance records, contract and
subgrant award documents, etc.

Washington State Auditor's Office
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SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR FEDERAL AUDIT FINDINGS

City of Seattle
King County
January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015

This schedule presents the status of federal findings reported in prior audit periods. The status
listed below is the representation of the City of Seattle. The State Auditor’s Office has reviewed
the status as presented by the City.

Audit Period: Report Ref. No.: | Finding Ref. No.: CFDA Number:
January 1, 2014 through 1015224 2014-001 93.568

December 31, 2014

Federal Program Name and Granting Pass-Through Agency Name:

Agency: Washington State Department of Commerce
U.S. Department of Health and Human

Services

Finding Caption:
City of Seattle’s Office of Housing did not have adequate internal controls to ensure
compliance with federal requirements for its Homewise program.

Background:
City of Seattle’s Office of Housing did not have adequate internal controls related to allocable

costs and time-and-effort certifications to ensure compliance with federal requirements for its
Homewise program. As a result, we reported a total of $88,784 in questioned cost.

Status of Corrective Action: (check one)

(] Fully X Partially
Corrected Corrected L1 Not Corrected

[] Finding is considered no
longer valid

Corrective Action Taken:
The Seattle Office of Housing is currently awaiting a determination from the Washington State
Department of Commerce to resolve this finding.

The major sources of funding for the HomeWise program include Seattle City Light (SCL) and
a variety of state and federal sources that flow through the Washington State Department of
Commerce. In 2014, SCL represented approximately half of all HomeWise capital costs.
Therefore, in 2014, the Office of Housing (OH) requested that SCL pay for half of HomeWise
administrative and program support costs. Unfortunately, SCL capped the administrative
amount at less than their pro-rata share, which created this issue.

However, it is important to recognize that SCL dollars directly result in the HomeWise
program’s ability to generate additional units. SCL capital funds stretch state and federal
dollars further. Often, the combination of SCL capital funds and other grant funds creates a
large enough subsidy to incentivize multi-family property owners to participate. Because of this
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leverage, the Department of Commerce grants are reaching more units than they would
otherwise.

In response to the recommendation that the cost allocation be equitably divided, OH, with the
involvement of the City Budget Office, secured the commitment from SCL that they will pay
their pro-rata share of administrative and program support costs. As of January 1, 2016, SCL
IS paying the appropriate share of these expenses. OH has also added the process of completing
time and effort certifications.
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STATUS OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS

City of Seattle
King County
January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015

This schedule presents the status of findings reported in prior audit periods. The status listed
below is the representation of the City of Seattle. The State Auditor’s Office has reviewed the
status as presented by the City.

Audit Period: Report Ref. No.: Finding Ref. No.:
January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 | 1014749 2014-001

Finding Caption:
The Seattle City Employees’ Retirement System does not have adequate internal controls in its
accounting, which caused delays in its annual financial statement preparation.

Background:

The certified public accounting firm’s audit identified a significant deficiency in internal
controls over financial reporting related to account reconciliations. In 2013, the certified public
accounting firm reported the same significant deficiency and our office reported the same issue
as a finding.

Status of Corrective Action: (check one)
X Fully [ Partially [J No Corrective I Finding is considered no
Corrected Corrected Action Taken longer valid

Corrective Action Taken:

In 2015, the Seattle City Employees' Retirement System (SCERS) instituted a monthly
reconciliation process with SCERS' custodial bank, BNY Mellon. This reconciliation includes
monthly updates to SCERS' General Ledger to reflect the value of investment assets on a more
timely basis. This change has also greatly reduced the number of journal entries required for
SCERS' yearend process and reduced delays in yearend financial statement preparation.

Audit Period: Report Ref. No.: Finding Ref. No.:
January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 | 1014749 2014-002

Finding Caption:
The City’s internal controls over financial reporting are not adequate to ensure the financial
statements are accurate and complete.

Background:
Our audit identified deficiencies in internal controls over financial reporting that represent a
significant deficiency resulting in immaterial errors. City subsequently corrected most of the
errors. Control deficiencies are identified in the following areas:

e Year-end financial statement preparation

e Capital assets

e Business taxes

e Expenditures
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Status of Corrective Action: (check one)
X Fully 1 Partially I No Corrective [J Finding is considered no
Corrected Corrected Action Taken longer valid

Corrective Action Taken:

The City’s financial reporting team, Citywide Accounting (CWA), is taking steps to strengthen
the control environment. Although staff turnover and retirements in 2015 had slowed progress
these improvements will continue to be an ongoing emphasis. With the transition of staff during
the current year-end production cycle management had placed emphasis on areas with an
elevated level of risk and specifically those areas previously noted by the auditor.

As new staff transition into new responsibilities the City will continue to invest in training and
educating our employee’s responsible for financial reporting. This team is also actively
participating in the ongoing redevelopment of the City’s financial system. This upgrade project
will have a direct impact on CWA's ability to strengthen our financial reporting controls, and
provide timely, relevant information to the accountants who can ensure compliance with those
internal controls.

Washington State Auditor's Office Page 23




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND
OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

City of Seattle
King County
January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015

Mayor and City Council
City of Seattle
Seattle, Washington

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the
governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate
discretely presented component units and remaining fund information of the City of Seattle, King
County, Washington, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015, and the related notes to
the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements, and
have issued our report thereon dated June 28, 2016.

Our report includes a reference to other auditors who audited the financial statements of the
Light, Water, Drainage and Wastewater, and Solid Waste funds and the Seattle City Employees’
Retirement System, as described in our report on the City’s financial statements. This report
includes our consideration of the results of the other auditor’s testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and other matters that are reported on separately by those
other auditors. However, this report, insofar as it relates to the results of the other auditors, is
based solely on the reports of the other auditors. The financial statements of the Water, Drainage
and Wastewater, and Solid Waste funds and the Seattle City Employees’ Retirement System
were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and accordingly this report
does not include reporting on internal control over financial reporting or instances of reportable
noncompliance associated with the Water, Drainage and Wastewater, and Solid Waste funds and
the Seattle City Employees Retirement System.

The prior year comparative information has been derived from the City's 2014 basic financial
statements, on which we issued our report dated June 29, 2015.
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As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, during the year ended December 31, 2015, the
City implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Pensions — an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s
internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the City's financial statements will not be prevented,
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of the City’s compliance with certain provisions
of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a
direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However,
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
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PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of
the City’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. However,
this report is a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited. It also serves to
disseminate information to the public as a reporting tool to help citizens assess government
operations.

Toowt X Kalleg

TROY KELLEY
STATE AUDITOR
OLYMPIA, WA

June 28, 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR
EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND REPORT ON

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

City of Seattle
King County
January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015

Mayor and City Council
City of Seattle
Seattle, Washington

REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL
PROGRAM

We have audited the compliance of the City of Seattle, King County, Washington, with the types
of compliance requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB)
Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City’s major
federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2015. The City’s major federal programs are
identified in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs.

Management’s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City’s major federal
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We
conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the
audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform
Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal
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program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City’s
compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each
major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination on the City’s
compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major
federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Other Matters

The results of our auditing procedures disclosed instances of noncompliance with those
requirements, which are required to be reported in accordance with the Uniform Guidance and
which are described in the accompanying Schedule of Federal Award Findings and Questioned
Costs as Findings 2015-001 and 2015-002. We also noted certain matters that we will report to
the management of the City in a separate letter dated September 29, 2016. Our opinion on each
major federal program is not modified with respect to these matters.

City’s Response to Findings

The City’s response to the noncompliance findings identified in our audit is described in the
accompanying Schedule of Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs. The City’s response
was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly,
we express no opinion on the response.

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE

Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control
over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and
performing our audit of compliance, we considered the City’s internal control over compliance
with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal
program in order to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to
test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance,
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but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's
internal control over compliance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in
the preceding paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. However, as discussed
below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to
be material weaknesses and significant deficiencies.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal
control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on
a timely basis. We consider the deficiencies in internal control over compliance described in the
accompanying Schedule of Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs as Finding 2015-002
to be a material weakness.

A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance,
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We consider the
deficiencies in internal control over compliance described in the accompanying Schedule of
Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs as Finding 2015-001 to be a significant
deficiency.

We also noted certain matters that we will report to the management of the City in a separate
letter dated September 29, 2016.

City’s Response to Findings

The City's response to the internal control over compliance findings identified in our audit is
described in the accompanying Schedule of Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs. The
City's response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance
and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response.
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Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the
requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other
purpose. However, this report is a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited. It
also serves to disseminate information to the public as a reporting tool to help citizens assess
government operations.

Tet X Kaleg

TROY KELLEY
STATE AUDITOR
OLYMPIA, WA

September 29, 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
City of Seattle

King County
January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015

Mayor and City Council
City of Seattle
Seattle, Washington

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate discretely presented component units
and remaining fund information of the City of Seattle, King County, Washington, as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed on page 32.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
did not audit the financial statements of:

e The Light Fund, Water Fund, Drainage and Wastewater Fund, and Solid Waste Fund,
which are major funds that collectively represent 99 percent, 99 percent, and 97 percent,
respectively, of the assets and deferred outflows, net position, and revenues of the
business-type activities.

e The Seattle City Employees’ Retirement System, which represents 61 percent, 76
percent, and 11 percent, respectively, of the assets and deferred outflows, net position,
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and revenues of the aggregate discretely presented component units and remaining fund
information.

Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports thereon have been
furnished to us, and our opinions, insofar as they relate to the amounts included for the Light,
Water, Drainage and Wastewater, and Solid Waste funds and the Seattle City Employees’
Retirement System, are based solely on the reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement. The financial statements of the Water,
Drainage and Wastewater, and Solid Waste funds and the Seattle City Employees’ Retirement
System were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the City’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.

Opinion

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the
governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate
discretely presented component units and remaining fund information of the City of Seattle, as of
December 31, 2015, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash
flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
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Matters of Emphasis

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, in 2015, the City adopted new accounting
guidance, Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Pensions — an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27. Our opinion is
not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Report on Summarized Comparative Information

The financial statements include partial prior year comparative information. Such information
does not include all of the information required for a presentation in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly, such information
should be read in conjunction with the City’s financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2014, from which such partial information was derived.

We and other auditors have previously audited the City’s 2014 financial statements and, based
on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, we expressed unmodified opinions on the
respective financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregately discretely presented component units and remaining fund
information in our report dated June 29, 2015.

In our opinion, the summarized comparative information for the governmental activities and
governmental funds presented herein as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014, is
consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been
derived.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s  discussion and analysis on pages 37 through 57, budgetary
comparison information on pages 177 through 180 and pension plan information on pages 181
through 189 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information,
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to
our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our
audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
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express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary and Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The accompanying Schedule of
Expenditures of Federal Awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements,
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). This
schedule is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements
taken as a whole.

OTHER REPORTING REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING
STANDARDS

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
June 28, 2016 on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not
to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering the City’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Twy X fller

TROY KELLEY
STATE AUDITOR
OLYMPIA, WA

June 28, 2016
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FINANCIAL SECTION

City of Seattle
King County
January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Management’s Discussion and Analysis — 2015

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Net Position — 2015

Statement of Activities — 2015

Balance Sheet — Governmental Funds — 2015

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances — Governmental
Funds — 2015

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities — 2015

Statement of Net Position — Proprietary Funds — 2015

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position — Proprietary Funds
- 2015

Statement of Cash Flows — Proprietary Funds — 2015

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position — Fiduciary Funds — 2015

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position — Fiduciary Funds — 2015

Notes to Financial Statements — 2015

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Notes to Required Supplementary Information - Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balances — Budget to Actual

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances — Budget and Actual
— General Fund — 2015

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances — Budget and Actual
— Transportation Fund — 2015

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances — Budget and Actual
— Low-Income Housing Fund — 2015

Notes to Required Supplementary Information - Pension Plan Information — 2015

Pension Plan Information — Schedule of Funding Progress — 2015

Pension Plan Information — Schedule of Employer Contributions — 2015
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Pension Plan Information — Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability —
2015
Pension Plan Information — Schedule of Employer Contributions — 2015

SUPPLEMENTARY AND OTHER INFORMATION

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards — 2015
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards — 2015
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The City of Seattle (City) presents this Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of its financial activities for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2015. This discussion and analysis focuses on significant financial issues, provides an overview of the City’s
financial activity, highlights significant changes in the City’s financial position, and identifies material variances between the
approved budget and actual spending.

The City encourages readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information provided in its
letter of transmittal and the City's basic financial statements following this section. All dollar amount are expressed in thousands
unless otherwise indicated.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is an introduction to the City of Seattle’s basic financial statements which consist of three components:
(1) government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financial statements, and (3) notes to the financial statements. The report also
contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements provide a broad overview of the City’s finances in a manner similar to that of private-
sector business.

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all City assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources, with the difference between these elements reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position
may serve as a useful indicator of the City’s financial health.

The Statement of Activities presents changes in net position during the current reporting period. All changes to net position are
reported as of the date of the underlying event, rather than when cash is received or disbursed. Thus, some reported revenues and
expenses result in cash flows in future periods. The Statement of Activities focuses on both the gross and the net cost of the various
activities of the City. The report summarizes and simplifies analysis of the revenues and expenses of the various City activities and
the degree to which activities are subsidized by general revenues.

The government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by taxes and
intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that recover all or a significant portion of their costs
through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental functions of the City include general government
activities, judicial activities, public safety, physical environment, transportation, economic environment, health and human services,
and culture and recreation. The business-type activities of the City include an electric utility, a water utility, a waste disposal utility,
a sewer and drainage utility, operations of regulatory and long-range planning and enforcement of policies and codes that include
construction and land use, fiber leasing and parking facilities.

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is a group of related accounts used to maintain control over resources that are segregated for specific activities or objectives.
The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related
legal requirements. There are three categories of City funds: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements. Most of the City’s basic services are reported in the governmental funds. These statements, however, focus on near-
term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as fund balances at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be
useful in assessing the City’s near-term financing requirements.

Readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions by comparing the information
presented for the governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements. Both the governmental funds Balance Sheet and the governmental funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate the comparison.
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The City of Seattle

The City maintains numerous governmental funds that are organized according to type (general, special revenue, debt service,
capital projects, and permanent funds). Information for the three major governmental funds is presented separately in the
governmental funds Balance Sheet and the governmental funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances;
information for the nonmajor funds is presented in the aggregate. The City’s major governmental funds are the General Fund,
Transportation Fund, and Low-Income Housing Fund. Information for each of the nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the
combining statements in this report.

Proprietary funds account for services for which the City charges outside customers and internal City departments. Proprietary
funds provide the same information as shown in the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail. The City maintains
the following two types of proprietary funds.

» Enterprise funds report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements.
The proprietary funds financial statements provide separate information for the Seattle City Light Fund, Water Fund, Drainage
and Wastewater Fund, and Solid Waste Fund, which are considered to be major enterprise funds. Information for nonmajor
enterprise funds is presented in the aggregate. Information for each of the nonmajor enterprise funds is provided in the combining
statements in this report.

+ Internal service funds report activities that provide supplies and services for various City programs and activities. The City uses
internal service funds to account for its finance and administrative services and information technology services. Because these
services largely benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been included within the governmental
activities in the government-wide financial statements. The internal service funds are combined into a single aggregated
presentation in the proprietary funds financial statements. Information for each of the internal service funds is provided in the
combining statements in this report.

Proprietary fund statements follow the governmental fund statements in this report.

Fiduciary funds account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in
the government-wide financial statements because the resources of these funds are not available to support City programs. The
accounting used for fiduciary funds is similar to that used for proprietary funds. The City’s fiduciary funds include the Employees’

Retirement Fund, the Firemen’s Pension Fund, the Police Relief and Pension Fund, the S. L. Denny Private-Purpose Trust Fund,
and various agency funds.

Notes to the Financial Statements
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements. They provide additional disclosures that are

essential to a full understanding of the information provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to
the financial statements immediately follow the basic financial statements in this report.

Required Supplementary Information

This report also contains other required supplementary information (RSI) on budgetary comparisons for major governmental funds
and pension plan funding.

Combining Statements

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with the nonmajor governmental and enterprise funds, internal service
funds, and fiduciary funds are presented immediately following the required supplementary information.

Statistical Information

The statistical section provides financial statement users with additional historical perspective, context, and detail for them to use
in evaluating the information contained within the financial statements, notes to the financial statements, and the required
supplementary information with the goal of providing the user with a better understanding of the City’s economic condition.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

At the end of fiscal year 2015 the City’s net position totaled $5.124 billion, with governmental activities accounting for 64.5
percent and business-type activities 35.5 percent, approximately a 2 to 1 ratio.

Net investment in capital assets grew 4.6 percent, increasing $224.6 million, to a total reported balance of $5.060 billion for
2015. Of these assets the City's governmental activities controls $3.144 billion, with the remaining $1.916 billion supporting
business-type activities.

Restricted net position, $615.6 million, is available to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. Governmental
activities accounted for 98.9 percent of the $108.6 million increase in the restricted balances. Significant resources are restricted
for the City's Capital Projects, Low-Income, Transportation, and Education programs, debt service and other purposes.

Non-current liabilities increased $1.502 billion between years due to the implementation of GASB statement 68 and the
recognition of the City’s net pension liability. This change is also reflected in the $552.4 million deficit reported under the
City’s unrestricted net position.

Expenses reported at the citywide level were up 3.1 percent year over year, totaling $3.175 billion in 2015. Of the $94.2 million
increase in 2015°s expenses only 10.9 percent can be attributed to the growth in expenses related to governmental-activities.
Net program expenses for all functions within the City’s governmental activities totaled $1.547 billion for 2015, a 0.7 percent
increase over 2014’s costs of $1.536 billion.

The City’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance of $850.7 million for 2015, an increase of 25.2 percent
from the prior year's balance of $679.6 million. Of the total fund balance 12.9 percent is reported as unassigned balance, totaling
$109.6 million for year end 2015. The General Fund contributed $143.8 million but was offset by the special revenue and
capital project funds which reported a combined deficit of $34.2 million in unassigned fund balances that offset the total across
the City's governmental funds.

Revenue generated by the City’s governmental funds totaled $1.819 billion for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, an
increase of approximately $69.8 million, 4.0 percent, from the prior year’s balance of $1.750 billion. The increase is primarily
driven by $84.0 million of additional tax collections in 2015, a 7.3 percent increase that pushed the total tax collection to $1.233
billion in 2015.

The City’s governmental funds received a significant contribution from other financing sources and uses, totaling $251.5 million
for 2015. These resources offset the operating deficit and directly contributed to the City’s governmental fund balance which
totals $850.7 million at year end.

Expenditures in governmental funds amounted to $1.9 billion, an increase of approximately $71.5 million, 3.9 percent, compared
to $1.828 billion in 2014. In the aggregate, expenditures for governmental funds exceeded revenues by approximately $80.3
million. The City’s General Fund reported an excess of revenues over expenditures totaling $385.9 million, while the other
major and nonmajor governmental funds reported a deficiency of revenues over expenditures totaling $396.4 million.

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. For 2015 the General Fund reported a balance of $383.9 million, 45.1
percent of the entire governmental fund balance. The General Fund accounts for 67.0 percent of revenues, and 45.6 percent of
total governmental expenditures. The unassigned balance in the City's General Fund grew $9.3 million, a 6.9 percent increase
that pushed the total unassigned balance to a record level, $143.8 million for 2015.

In 2015 the City issued $358.3 million in General Obligation Bonds, and $648.5 million of Revenue Bonds. Of the amount
issued in 2015, $155.0 million was used to partially refund general obligation bonds, and $305.4 million of revenue bonds.
The City’s outstanding general obligation bonds totaled $1.019 billion and the utility revenue bonds 3.721 billion at year end
2015.
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The City of Seattle

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted earlier, net position may serve as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. Table A-1 is a condensed version
of the statement of net position for the City of Seattle.

Statement of Net Position

Table A-1 CONDENSED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
(In Thousands)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
Restated Restated
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

ASSETS
Current and Other Assets $ 1,091,481 $ 905,505 $ 647,713 $ 577,980 $ 1,739,194 § 1,483,485
Capital Assets and Construction in Progress, Net of

Accumulated Depreciation 4,337,252 3,989,902 6,290,342 5,923,953 10,627,593 9,913,855
Total Assets 5,428,732 4,895,407 6,938,055 6,501,933 12,366,787 11,397,340
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 579,349 456,252 117,201 47,858 696,550 504,110
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities 346,715 308,485 443,050 411,184 789,765 719,669
Noncurrent Liabilities 1,835,754 1,059,202 4,647,421 3,921,491 6,483,175 4,980,692
Total Liabilities 2,182,469 1,367,687 5,090,471 4,332,674 7,272,940 5,700,361
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 523,316 466,094 143,521 155,157 666,838 621,251
NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 3,144,486 3,085,306 1,915,893 1,750,495 5,060,379 4,835,801
Restricted 556,405 448,935 59,193 58,039 615,599 506,973
Unrestricted (398,596) (16,363) (153,822) 253,427 (552,418) 237,064

Total Net Position $ 330229 $ 3,517,877 § 1,821,264 § 2,061,960 § 5,123,560 § 5,579,838

At the close of the current fiscal year the City’s total net position was $5.124 billion. This is the first time in 14 years of reporting
Government-wide statements that the City's overall total net position has fallen year over year.

City's unrestricted net position reports a deficit of $552.4 million. This deficit reflects the City's recognition of the net pension
liability associated with the implementation of GASB statement 68. This deficit will require future resources to meet the government’s
obligation to citizens and creditors.

The City’s net position reports an investment of $5.060 billion in capital assets, such as land, buildings, and equipment, less any
related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently,
these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt,
the resources needed to repay the debt must be provided from other funding sources, as capital assets cannot be used to liquidate
these liabilities.

An additional portion of the City’s net position, $615.6 million, 12.0 percent, represents resources that are subject to external
restrictions on how they may be used. The net position for the business-type activities decreased 11.67 percent between 2014 and
2015, from $2.062 billion to $1.821 billion. The decrease in net position is also directly related to the recognition of the net pension
liability.
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Table A-2 CHANGES IN NET POSITION RESULTING FROM
CHANGES IN REVENUES AND EXPENSES
(In Thousands)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
Restated Restated
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Revenues
Program Revenues
Charges for Services $ 341,171 357,810 $§ 1,740,144 $ 1,685,506 $ 2,081,315 $ 2,043,316
Operating Grants and Contributions 136,980 123,986 7,087 6,155 144,068 130,141
Capital Grants and Contributions 29,358 37,895 60,114 48,129 89,473 86,025
General Revenues
Property Taxes 420,691 431,458 — — 420,691 431,458
Sales Taxes 239,189 199,735 — — 239,189 199,735
Business Taxes 454,086 431,437 — — 454,086 431,437
Other Taxes 118,831 82,135 — — 118,831 82,135
Other 18,273 17,642 16,705 19,013 34,978 36,655
Total Revenues 1,758,580 1,682,098 1,824,050 1,758,803 3,582,630 3,440,901
Expenses
Governmental Activities
General Government 208,638 189,034 — — 208,638 189,034
Judicial 28,477 28,874 — — 28,477 28,874
Public Safety 531,524 568,843 — — 531,524 568,843
Physical Environment 4,351 5,853 — — 4,351 5,853
Transportation 221,443 222,199 — — 221,443 222,199
Economic Environment 138,878 138,169 — — 138,878 138,169
Health and Human Services 94,122 76,562 — — 94,122 76,562
Culture and Recreation 286,395 275,566 — — 286,395 275,566
Interest on Long-Term Debt 32,694 31,170 — — 32,694 31,170
Business-Type Activities
Light — 837,860 798,161 837,860 798,161
Water — 228,241 221,944 228,241 221,944
Drainage and Wastewater — 316,486 298,633 316,486 298,633
Solid Waste — 173,312 159,501 173,312 159,501
Planning and Development — 64,673 58,304 64,673 58,304
Downtown Parking Garage — 7,401 7,458 7,401 7,458
Fiber Leasing — 35 27 35 27
Total Expenses 1,546,521 1,536,270 1,628,008 1,544,029 3,174,529 3,080,298
Excess Before Special Item and Transfers 212,059 145,828 196,042 214,774 408,101 360,603
Special Item - Environmental Remediation — — (4,975) (4,949) (4,975) (4,949)
Transfers (8,931) (11,512) 8,931 11,512 — —
Changes in Net Position 203,128 134,316 199,998 221,338 403,126 355,654
Net Position - Beginning of Year 3,517,878 3,386,757 2,061,960 1,840,622 5,579,838 5,227,379
Restatements/Prior-Year Adjustments (418,709) (3,195) (440,694) — (859,403) (3,195)
Net Position - Beginning of Year as Restated 3,099,170 3,383,562 1,621,266 1,840,622 4,720,436 5,224,184

Net Position - End of Year

$ 3302297 $ 3517878 § 1821264 $ 2061960 $ 5123561 $ 5.579.838

Analysis of Changes in Net Position

In 2015 the City’s total net position decreased by $456.3 million, 8.2 percent. The factors contributing to the decrease are explained
in the following discussion of governmental and business-type activities.
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Governmental Activities

Expenditures and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities
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Governmental Activities. The charts on the previous page present the City’s governmental expenses and revenues by function and
its revenue by source.

The City's revenues reported at the citywide level were up 4.1 percent year over year, totaling $3.583 billion in 2015. Out of the
$141.7 million of additional revenues reported in 2015, the City’s governmental activities accounted for 54.0 percent of the change.
The following table lists the general revenues ranked by the size of their 2015 collections, and highlights the change in general
revenues between the 2014 and 2015 financial statements.

Amount of
2015 Amount Percent of Change
Rank General Tax Revenues (In Millions) Change (In Millions)
1 Business Taxes $454.1 5.2% $22.6
2 Property Taxes $420.7 (2.5)% $(10.8)
3 Sales Taxes $239.2 19.8% $39.5
5 Excise Taxes $101.1 54.7% $35.7
4 Other Taxes $17.7 5.6% $1.0

The City’s tax revenues continue to provide the most significant source of revenue for governmental activities, with property, sales
and business tax contributing 89.0 percent of all general revenues, and 63.3 percent of the governmental activities general and
program revenue combined.

For the first time in 2015 the City's collection of business taxes replaces property taxes as the number one general tax resource. The
2.5 percent decline in property tax collected is a result of several factors. The voter approved 2008 Parks Levy which collected tax
proceeds over six years expired in 2014, resulting in a $21.3 million reduction in property tax collections. An additional voter
approved levy that facilitated the Pike Place Market’s renovation also expired in 2014, contributing $7.7 million to the decline.
Offsetting the reduction from the expiring levies is $17.1 million collected in the first year of the Seattle Preschool Services Levy.

The year over year growth in sales tax was 19.8 percent or $39.5 million, and contributed 51.6 percent of the total revenue growth
in governmental activities. Excise taxes collected by the City contributed an additional $35.7 million to the increase, 40.5 percent
of the total revenue growth in governmental activities. Both increases can be partially attributed to a voter approved proposition in
November 2014 to expand Metro bus services in Seattle which is supported by a $60 increase to vehicle license fees, and a 0.1
percent increase in the sales tax rate collected. The primary force behind the General Fund’s sales tax growth is the local construction
boom, with 25 percent of sales tax receipts directly attributable to construction.

Direct program revenues collected supporting the City’s governmental activities were $507.5 million, 32.8 percent of the the City's
expenses for governmental activities, with the remaining $1.039 billion covered by the City’s general resources. The City’s charges
for services are the largest component of reported program revenues, and comprise 67.2 percent of program revenue generated by
governmental activities. For governmental activities charges for services contribute 19.4 percent of total revenues, with year over
year revenues collected for service charges down $16.6 million, a 4.7 percent decrease that lowers the total service charge collection
to $341.2 million.

Expenses reported at the citywide level were up 3.1 percent year over year, totaling $3.175 billion in 2015. Of the $94.2 million
increase in 2015’s expenses only 10.9 percent can be attributed to the growth in expenses related to governmental activities. Net
program expenses for all functions within the City’s governmental activities totaled $1.547 billion for 2015, a 0.7 percent increase
over 2014’s costs of $1.536 billion. The following table lists city functions and programs ranked by the size of their 2015 expenses,
and highlights the growth in costs between the 2014 and 2015 financial statements.

Amount of

2015 Citywide Amount Percent of Change
Rank Function/Program (In Millions) Change (In Millions)

1 Public Safety $531.5 (6.6)% $(37.3)

2 Culture and Recreation $286.4 3.9% $10.8

3 Transportation $221.4 (0.3)% $(0.8)

4 General Government $208.6 10.4% $19.6

5 Economic Environment $138.9 0.5% $0.7

6 Health and Human Services $94.1 22.9% $17.6

The City’s largest governmental expense continues to be the public safety function, totaling $531.5 million for 2015,
contributing 16.7 percent of all citywide expenses, and 34.4 percent of expense in the City’s governmental activities.
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Business-Type Activities
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Business-Type Activities. At year end the City’s net position for business-type activities was $1.821 billion, a 11.67 percent decrease
totaling $240.7 million. Of this amount $27.1 million reflects the consolidation of internal service fund activities related to enterprise
funds. Key factors for the change are described below:

The Enterprise funds beginning net position of $2.043 billion was adjusted to $1.602 billion to reflect the City's implementation of
GASB statement 68. The impact of this one-time $440.7 million reduction to net position was offset by a $191.9 million change in
net position during the year.

The City Light Utility realized a $90.5 million change in net position for 2015. The change was due in large part to lower net
wholesale energy sales compared to 2014. Higher retail electric sales, transfers to and from the revenue stabilization account, and
capital contributions were offset by lower power related revenues, and higher distribution, administrative and general, taxes, and
depreciation, in addition to the lower net surplus power sales. Operating income generated $110.8 million, down $41.5 million from
2014. Operating revenues remained relatively consistent at $882.9 million, falling only $3.6 million. Operating expenses increased
$37.9 million, and contributed 91.4 percent of the decrease in the operating income. Retail power revenues at $736.6 million
increased $15.8 million. Retail power revenues were higher due to the 4.2 percent across-the-board rate increase effective January
1, 2015 and the 0.9 percent Bonneville pass-through rate adjustment effective in October 2015 despite lower consumption from
warmer weather during most of 2015.

The Water Utility realized a $38.2 million change in net position for 2015. Operating income remained relatively consistent at $58.4
million, decreasing 0.2 percent. The increase in operating revenues and expenses are very closely aligned, with additional operating
revenues supporting 98.6 percent of the increase in operating expenses. Operating revenues increased approximately $9.0 million,
3.7 percent over 2014. This change was driven by an increase in direct service revenue of $7.1 million resulting from an increase
in consumption and $2.2 million increase in other revenues. 2015 was not a typical year for water consumption. The area experienced
very dry conditions a month earlier than expected. As a result, the Fund implemented the Water Shortage Contingency Plan in
coordination with other large cities in the area. This voluntary reduction plan along with cooler temperatures later in the summer
pushed consumption down. However, the early summer spike was large enough to provide increased revenues.

The Drainage and Waste Water Ultility realized a $52.1 million change in net position for 2015. Operating income generated $363.8
million, a 6.4 percent increase from 2014. Operating expenses totaled $302.1 million, a 6.3 percent increase. The additional operating
expenditures were only 82.2 percent of the increase in operating revenues. The additional revenue is due to a $12.9 million increase
in wastewater revenues from an average rate increase of 5.2 percent and an increase in consumption of 3.7 percent. The largest
operating expense increase was related to Wastewater treatment costs, which increased by $10.0 million due to a 5.6 percent increase
in King County’s treatment rate and a 3.7 percent increase in consumption.

The Solid Waste Utility realized a $1.4 million change in net position for 2015. Operating income generated $174.8 million, a 11.0
percent increase from 2014. Operating expenses totaled $169.7 million, a 9.0 percent increase. The additional operating expenditures
were only 81.3 percent of the increase in operating revenues. Current year operating revenues increased $17.3 million compared
to the prior year. There were several key factors affecting this change. There was an approximate 5.9 percent rate increase for
residential and commercial garbage, and composting services effective April 1, 2015. This resulted in residential and commercial
solid waste collection service revenue gains of $9.1 million, including $5.9 million in residential garbage collection and $3.2 million
in commercial collection revenue. The gains in residential and commercial revenues were offset by a transfer to the rate stabilization
fund of $2.5 million as compared to a $10.5 million transfer in 2014, a reduction of $8.0 million. Operating expenses in 2015
increased $14.0 million compared to 2014. The largest operating expense increase was an $8.5 million increase for the environmental
cleanup of the South Park Landfill. Additional increases included $3.2 million in collection expense directly related to increased
revenues.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF CITY FUNDS

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.

Table A-3 REVENUE, EXPENDITURE, AND FUND BALANCE SUMMARY
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
(In Thousands)
Major Funds
General Fund Transportation Fund Low-Income Housing Fund
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Revenues

Taxes 987,815 $ 926,003 $ 84,791 § 78,477 $ 17,934  § 17,943

Licenses and Permits 27,119 25,027 6,043 5,066 — —

Grants, Shared Revenues, and Contributions 32,198 35,666 35,320 46,244 7,001 2,840

Charges for Services 61,637 61,080 71,989 98,365 27,037 —

Fines and Forfeits 32,769 31,960 258 19 — —

Parking Fees and Space Rent 39,154 38,223 95 84 — —

Program Income, Interest, and Miscellaneous

Revenues 38,041 42,794 513 2,235 9,526 32,660

Total Revenues 1,218,733 1,160,753 199,009 230,490 61,498 53,442
Expenditures 902,663 897,493 400,184 382,909 30,146 29,181
Other Financing Sources and Uses

Long-Term Debt Issued and

Refunding Payments, Net — — — — — —

Sales of Capital Assets 18,274 — — 2,108 — —

Transfers In (Out) (267,679) (255,085) 185,825 162,996 — —
Total Other Financing Sources and Uses (249,405) (255,085) 185,825 165,104 — —
Fund Balances

Nonspendable 474 473 515 1,579 — —

Restricted 136,626 99,991 14,001 33,816 135,079 99,003

Committed 97,296 76,493 56,481 50,952 1,692 6,415

Assigned 5,767 5,685 — — — —

Unassigned 143,763 134,492 — — — —
Total Fund Balances 383,927 $ 317,135  § 70,997 § 86,348 § 136,771  §
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Table A-3 REVENUE, EXPENDITURE, AND FUND BALANCE SUMMARY
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (continued)
(In Thousands)
Nonmajor Funds
Special Revenue Funds Debt Service Funds
2015 2014 2015 2014

Revenues

Taxes $ 123,676 $ 84,719 $ 18,658 § 17,706

Licenses and Permits 976 — — —

Grants, Shared Revenues, and Contributions 76,149 69,986 978 979

Charges for Services 61,134 50,346 — —

Fines and Forfeits 5,965 5,163 — —

Parking Fees and Space Rent 27,837 25,227 348 357

Program Income, Interest, and Miscellaneous Revenues 7,765 3,533 999 718

Total Revenues 303,502 238,974 20,984 19,760
Expenditures 429,345 362,177 75,380 83,009
Other Financing Sources and Uses

Long-Term Debt Issued and Refunding Payments, Net — — — 48

Sales of Capital Assets 44 20 — —

Transfers In (Out) 167,968 136,830 50,278 63,238
Total Other Financing Sources and Uses 168,012 136,851 50,278 63,286
Fund Balances

Nonspendable 661 594 — —

Restricted 128,797 87,384 11,548 15,665

Committed 10,775 3,245 — —

Assigned 11,004 9,933 — —

Unassigned (11,496) (3,582) 0 0
Total Fund Balances $ 139,742 $ 97,573 § 11,548  § 15,665

Nonmajor Funds Total Governmental Funds
Capital Projects Funds Permanent Funds
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Revenues

Taxes $ 259 § 24272 § — 3 — $ 1,233,134  $ 1,149,119

Licenses and Permits — — — — 34,137 30,093

Grants, Shared Revenues, and Contributions 9,510 5,646 — — 161,155 161,361

Charges for Services 3,260 11,396 — — 225,056 221,187

Fines and Forfeits 16 — — — 39,008 37,142

Parking Fees and Space Rent 9 — — — 67,444 63,891

Program Income, Interest, and

Miscellaneous Revenues 2,538 4,785 22 33 59,403 86,757
Total Revenues 15,592 46,100 22 33 1,819,339 1,749,551
Expenditures 61,955 73,457 11 5 1,899,684 1,828,231
Other Financing Sources and Uses

Long-Term Debt Issued and

Refunding Payments, Net 235,338 54,557 — — 235,338 54,605

Sales of Capital Assets 912 — — — 19,231 2,129

Transfers In (Out) (139,505) (113,723) — — (3,113) (5,744)
Total Other Financing Sources and Uses 96,745 (59,166) — — 251,456 50,989
Fund Balances

Nonspendable — — 2,050 2,050 3,700 4,697

Restricted 128,192 110,921 112 101 554,355 446,883

Committed — — — — 166,243 137,105

Assigned — — — — 16,772 15,618

Unassigned (22,663) (55,649) — — 109,605 75,261
Total Fund Balances $ 105,529 $ 55272 $ 2,162 $ 2,151  $ 850,675 $§ 679,564
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Governmental Funds

The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of resources
available for spending. This information is useful in assessing the City’s financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund
balance measures the City’s net resources available for all purpose spending at the end of the fiscal year. Governmental funds reported
by the City include the General Fund, special revenue funds, debt service funds, capital project funds, and permanent funds.

In 2015 the City’s governmental funds generated $1.819 billion in revenues, and recorded $1.9 billion in expenditures. The 4.0
percent growth in revenue is driven by an overall increase in tax collections of $84.0 million. Year over year expenditures remained
relative consistent increasing only 3.9 percent, $71.5 million . The City’s governmental funds received a significant contribution
from other financing sources and uses, totaling $251.5 million for 2015. These resources offset the operating deficit and directly
contributed to the 25.2 percent increase to the City’s governmental fund balance which totals $850.7 million at year end. Table A-3
provides a summary of activities for the governmental fund types at year-end 2015.

The General Fund accounts for 67.0 percent of revenues, and 43.8 percent of total governmental expenditures. The General Fund is
the chief operating fund of the City. The Library Fund, previously reported as a special revenue fund, was determined to no longer
meet the definition of a special revenue fund, as defined by GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental
Fund Type Definitions. As a result, the Library Fund is now reported as part of the General Fund for the GAAP reporting. For
comparability, all amounts presented for fiscal year 2014 and 2015 in this discussion and analysis reflect this change unless noted
otherwise. Table A-4 provides a summary of activities for the general subfunds at year-end 2015.

Consistent with prior reporting periods two of the City’s special revenue funds continue to meet the criteria for reporting as major
governmental funds. The Transportation Operating Fund and the Low income Housing Fund are included in the fund financial
statement section of the CAFR alongside the presentation of the General Fund and the combined nonmajor governmental funds.

The Transportation Operating Fund, a special revenue fund, develops, maintains, and operates the transportation system inclusive
of streets, bridges, ramps, retaining walls, sea walls, bike trails, street lights, and other road infrastructure. At the end of the fiscal
year the Transportation Operating Fund reports a fund balance of $71.0 million, 17.8 percent less than reported for 2014. While
expenditures grew at 4.5 percent, revenues dropped 13.7 percent. The $199.0 million of revenues collected include the excess property
tax levy, a commercial parking tax, grants and contributions, and charges for services. The $31.5 million decline in revenue collections
relates directly to the Transportation Operating Fund’s 26.8 percent drop in revenues from charges for services and 23.62 percent in
the shared revenues. These revenue reductions were slightly offset by the expected growth in revenue from taxes, and licenses and
permits. Transportation Operating Fund’s expenditures account for nearly 21.1 percent of all governmental fund expenditures, totaling
$400.2 million for 2015. The Fund’s other financing sources contributed $185.8 million of additional resources in 2015, growing
12.6 percent, a $20.7 million increase in support that counters the growth in expenditure and decline in revenues.

The Low-Income Housing Fund, a special revenue fund and one of the major governmental funds of the City, manages activities
undertaken by the City to preserve, rehabilitate, or replace low-income housing. It also accounts for seven-year housing levies
approved by voters, most recently in 2009. The 2015 fund balance of $136.8 million reflects another year with a significant increase,
$31.4 million, over 2014’s balance. The change in fund balance was driven by relative stability in the funds expenditures, growing
3.3 percent to reach $30.1 million, combined with the continued strength of revenue collections which totaled $61.5 million. A
contributing factor of the increase is Council's passage of Ordinance 124388 which adjusted the contribution amounts for downtown
affordable housing and childcare incentive programs and to establish automatic inflationary adjustments.

Revenues for the City’s nonmajor governmental funds totaled $340.1 million, increasing $35.2 million, an 11.6 percent gain over
2014’s collection of $303.5 million. The overall net increase of revenue reported in the City’s nonmajor governmental funds was a
mix of both increases and decreases of revenues across the City’s various nonmajor governmental fund types. The City’s special
revenue funds recorded an additional $64.5 million of revenues for 2015, pushing total revenues up to $303.5 million and accounting
for 89.2 percent of all nonmajor governmental fund revenues.

For 2015 two additional funds are reported within the City’s special revenue funds, increasing the number reported to 20. The newly
created Wheelchair Accessible Services Fund and the Department of Education and Early Learning Fund generated a combined $4.3
million in additional revenues for 2015. The Wheelchair Accessible Services Fund relies upon the collection of a 10-cent per ride
surcharge for all rides originating in the City of Seattle with Transportation Network Companies, non-wheelchair-accessible taxis
and for-hire companies. The Department of Education and Early Learning fund reported 98.2 percent of its revenues as Grants,
Shared Revenues and Contributions. This was expected as the newly formed Department and fund was previously part of Office of
Education within the Department of Neighborhoods operations and reported within the General Fund.
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18 of the 20 special revenue funds reported contribute to 2015°s growth in revenues. Only the Human Services Operating Fund and
the Pike Place Market Renovation Fund report a combined $8.6 million decline in revenues. The Pike Place Market Renovation
Fund had received the proceeds of a six-year voter approved levy that facilitated the Pike Place Market’s renovation. 2015 tax
proceeds collected through the fund dropped from $7.8 million to $94 thousand, collections which now only relate to remaining
delinquent collections.

Three funds were the primary driver of revenue growth for special revenue funds. With the Seattle Transportation Benefit District
fund increasing revenues $30.8 million, the Preschool Levy fund adding 14.4 million and the Parks and Recreation Fund $12.7
million. The significant increase in revenues for the special revenue funds is offset by the 66.2 percent reduction of revenues recorded
in the capital project funds.

For 2015 capital project funds reported revenues of $15.6 million, down significantly from the $46.1 million reported in 2014. Two
funds combined to contribute to the $33.2 million drop in revenues. Revenues generated by the Park’s Mitigation and Remediation
fund decreased $11.9 million, 98.4 percent of the $12.1 million reported in 2014.

The reduction of revenues in the Parks Mitigation and Remediation fund reflected one time mitigation payments from the State of
Washington collected in 2014. The decline of revenues in in the fund was expected for 2015, and aligned with a significant reduction
in expenditure activities.

The Seattle Center and Parks Multipurpose Levy experienced the most substantial decline of all capital project funds, a $21.3 million
decrease year over year. The voter approved 2008 Parks Levy, collecting tax proceeds over six years expired in 2014. 2015’s tax
collections subsequently dropped 99.0 percent in the fund. The fund did not reflect a substantial reduction to expenditures, and instead
began to heavily rely on the remaining fund balance to provide the needed resources for ongoing projects.

Expenditures of the City’s nonmajor governmental funds totaled $568.4 million, increasing $49.8 million, a 9.6 percent gain over
2014’s expenditures of $518.7 million. The overall net increase in reported expenditures for nonmajor governmental funds was a
mix of a large increase in current operating costs, $82.5 million, and offsetting decreases in the capital outlay and debt service
expenditures, a $32.7 million reduction. The year over year changes in expenditure classes were consistent across the City’s various
nonmajor governmental fund types.
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Table A-4 REVENUE, EXPENDITURE, AND FUND BALANCE SUMMARY

Revenues

Taxes

Licenses and Permits

Grants, Shared Revenues, and Contributions

Charges for Services

Fines and Forfeits

Parking Fees and Space Rent

Program Income, Interest, and Miscellaneous Revenues
Total Revenues

Expenditures

Other Financing Sources and Uses

Sales of Capital Assets
Transfers In (Out)
Total Other Financing Sources and Uses

Fund Balances

Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total Fund Balances

Revenues

Taxes

Licenses and Permits

Grants, Shared Revenues, and Contributions

Charges for Services

Fines and Forfeits

Parking Fees and Space Rent

Program Income, Interest, and Miscellaneous Revenues
Total Revenues

Expenditures

Other Financing Sources and Uses

Sales of Capital Assets
Transfers In (Out)
Total Other Financing Sources and Uses

Fund Balances

Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total Fund Balances

Washington State Auditor's Office

GENERAL FUND SUBFUNDS
(In Thousands)
Cable
Judgment/ Municipal Arts Television
General Claims Jail Account Franchise
$ 914,634 $ — — — S —
18,607 — — — 8,512
23,594 — — — —
54,909 4,773 — — _
30,877 — — — 450
38,309 — — 15 —
4,967 2 1 41 153
1,085,897 4,775 1 56 9,115
754,721 9,419 — 5,642 8,586
(321,291) — (194) 5,954 (190)
(321,291) — (194) 5,954 (190)
95 — — — —
11,162 — — — —
4,208 8,765 — 1,517 4,458
3,791 — — — —
44,343 — — — —
$ 63,599 $ 8,765 $ — 1,517 $ 4,458
Bluefield
Cumulative Neighborhood Habitat Development
Reserve Matching Maintenance Rights Emergency
$ 73,181 $ — — — 3 —
1,558 — — — —
1,706 — — — —
1 _ _ _ _
246 — — — —
884 — 2 — —
77,576 — 2 — —
30,218 3,416 — — —
18,275 — — — —
(21,744) 1,557 — — 5,646
(3,469) 1,557 — — 5,646
2 _ _ _ _
82,381 — — — —
24,492 3,302 210 22 —
45,223 — — — 54,197
$ 152,098 $ 3302 $ 210 22 8 54,197
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Table A-4 REVENUE, EXPENDITURE, AND FUND BALANCE SUMMARY

Revenues

Taxes

Licenses and Permits

Grants, Shared Revenues, and Contributions

Charges for Services

Fines and Forfeits

Parking Fees and Space Rent

Program Income, Interest, and Miscellaneous Revenues
Total Revenues

Expenditures

Other Financing Sources and Uses

Sales of Capital Assets
Transfers In (Out)
Total Other Financing Sources and Uses

Fund Balances
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total Fund Balances

Revenues

Taxes

Licenses and Permits

Grants, Shared Revenues, and Contributions

Charges for Services

Fines and Forfeits

Parking Fees and Space Rent

Program Income, Interest, and Miscellaneous Revenues
Total Revenues

Expenditures

Other Financing Sources and Uses
Sales of Capital Assets
Transfers In (Out)

Total Other Financing Sources and Uses

Fund Balances

Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

GENERAL FUND SUBFUNDS (continued)
(In Thousands)
Special
Transit Employment Industrial Unemployment Health
Benefit Program Insurance Compensation Care
$ — — 3 — 3 — S —
_ 8 _ _ _
— — 721 59 25,876
— 8 721 59 25,876
— 8 — — 15,726
— — — 1,100 —
— — — 1,100 —
— — 350 — —
— — — — 29,980
— 124 6,091 1,396 41,787
$ — 124§ 6,441 $ 1,396 $ 71,767
Total General Fund
Group
Term Life
Insurance Library * 2015 2014
$ — — 987,815 § 926,002
— — 27,119 25,027
— 7,046 32,198 35,667
— 241 61,637 61,080
— 1,441 32,769 31,960
— 584 39,154 38,223
5,161 174 38,041 42,793
5,161 9,486 1,218,733 1,160,752
5,121 69,805 902,662 897,493
— — 18,275 —
— 61,483 (267,679) (255,085)
— 61,483 (249,404) (255,085)
— 27 474 474
— 13,104 136,627 99,991
466 458 97,296 76,493
— 1,976 5,767 5,685
— — 143,763 134,492
$ 466 15,565 $ 383,927 $ 317,135

Total Fund Balances

a Asresult of GASB Statement No. 54, the Library Fund no longer meets the definition for a special revenue fund and is reported as part of the General Fund for the

GAAP reporting.
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Proprietary Funds

The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide financial statements but in more
detail.

City Light Utility. The Utility realized a change in net position of $90.5 million in 2015 compared to $121.3 million in 2014, a
decrease of $30.8 million, 25.4 percent. This decrease was mainly due to lower net wholesale energy sales compared to 2014. Higher
retail electric sales, transfers from/(to) RSA, and capital contributions were offset by lower power related revenues. The decrease
of net position was also attributed to higher distribution expenses, general and administrative, taxes and depreciation.

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased by $69.5 million to $228.1 million in 2015, compared to $297.6 million in
2014. Net operating cash increased by $24.2 million to $152.5 million in 2015. Increased operating cash inflows was resulted from
rate increase effective at the beginning of the year, Bonneville Power Administration pass-through rate adjustment, transfers from
the RSA, and reimbursement from the Construction account for capital expenditures. The higher cash inflows were offset by greater
debt service payments, capital construction projects, and ongoing operations. Restricted assets decreased by $33.3 million to $265.1
millionin 2015, compared to $298.4 million in 2014. This decrease was primarily due to the funding of ongoing capital improvement
program.

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, were $2.961 billion and $2.728 billion in 2015 and 2014, a net
increase of $233.1 million. The majority of the Utilities’ capital asset additions were in the distribution plant and work-in-progress.
The net increase in capital assets was partially offset by a $59.0 million increase in accumulated depreciation and amortization.

Total liabilities were $2.733 billion in 2015 and $2.278 billion in 2014, the majority being revenue bonds payables. The noncurrent
portion of the revenue bonds payables were $2.091 billion in 2015 and $1.925 billion in 2014. In July 2015, the Utility issued a
total of $271.9 million of revenue bonds. Interest expense related to these bonds was $93.7 million in 2015 and $89.6 million in
2014.

City Light’s total net position was $1.132 billion in 2015 and $1.276 billion in 2014.

Water Utility. The Utility realized an operating income of $58.4 million in 2015 compared to $58.5 million in 2014. Operating
revenues increased by $9.0 million and operating expenses increased by $9.2 million between 2015 and 2014. The Utility realized
anet income of $38.2 million in 2015 compared to net income of $31.5 million in 2014. The net income in 2015 was primarily due
to an increase in direct services revenue related to the very dry weather conditions driving a spike in water usage. This increase was
offset by related operating expenses.

Net cash provided by operating activities increased to$124.0 million in 2015 from $127.9 million in 2014, a decrease of $3.9 million.
Total operating and restricted cash and investments were $137.6 million in 2015 compared to $100.2 million in 2014, an increase
of $37.4 million. This increase in cash and investments was primarily due to bond proceeds and transfers to the rate stabilization
fund.

Utility plant, net of accumulated depreciation, and other capital assets for the year ended December 31, 2015, amounted to $1.241
billion, an increase of $35.8 million from 2014. Capital outlays of $83.7 million were offset by depreciation expenses of $50.0
million. Major capital assets additions in 2015 included infrastructure improvements, rehabilitation, facility improvements and
water reservoir coverings.

The Water Utility had $851.6 million in outstanding revenue bonds in 2015 compared to $853.5 million at year end 2014. The
decrease was due to principal payments.

The Water Utility’s total net position was $360.1 million in 2015 and $393.0 million in 2014. The reduction resulted in part to the
recording of the net pension liability as required by the GASB Statement 68 for reporting pensions.

Drainage and Wastewater Utility. The Utility realized an operating income of $61.7 million in 2015 compared to $57.8 million
in 2014. Operating revenues increased by $21.8 million and operating expenses increased by $17.9 million between 2015 and 2014.
The Utility realized a net income of $52.1 million in 2015 and $48.5 million in 2014. The increase in net income is the result of a
rate increase offset by an increase in treatment costs.
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Net cash provided by operating activities decreased to $84.7 million in 2015 compared to $88.6 million in 2014. Total operating
and restricted cash and investments were $128.5 million in 2015 compared to $200.7 million in 2014. This decrease in cash and
investments was primarily used for capital expenditures.

Utility plant, net of accumulated depreciation, and other capital assets increased to $947.9 million in 2015 from $843.8 million in
2014, an increase of $104.1 million. Capital outlays of $119.1 million were offset by depreciation expenses of $23.5 million.

The Drainage and Wastewater Utility had $600.7 million outstanding revenue and refunding bond liabilities in 2015, as compared
to $618.9 million in 2014. Total liabilities, including revenue bonds, were $872.9 million in 2015 and $812.1 million in 2014.

Total net position for the Drainage and Wastewater Utility was $329.9 million in 2015 and $344.1 million in 2014. The reduction
resulted in part to the recording of the net pension liability as required by the GASB Statement 68 for reporting pensions.

Solid Waste Utility. The Utility realized an operating income of $5.0 million in 2015 compared to $1.8 million in 2014. Operating
revenues increased by $17.3 million and operating expenses increased by $14.0 million between 2015 and 2014. The Utility realized
anet income of $1.4 million in 2015 compared to $1.8 million in 2014. The net income in 2015 was primarily due to a rate increase
offset by a transfer to the rate stabilization fund and related operating expenses.

Net cash provided by operating activities increased to $30.8 million in 2015 compared to $22.9 million in 2014. Total operating
and restricted cash and investments were $85.4 million in 2015 and $81.6 million in 2014. The $3.8 million increase in operating
and restricted cash and investments is primarily due to new debt issued in 2015 offset by capital expenditures.

The Solid Waste Utility had $197.8 million outstanding revenue bond liabilities in 2015 compared to $166.9 million in 2014. The
increase was due to new debt issued in 2015.

Total net position for the Solid Waste Utility was $11.3 million in 2015 and $34.2 million in 2014. The reduction resulted in part
to the recording of the net pension liability as required by the GASB Statement 68 for reporting pensions.

Fiduciary Funds

The City maintains fiduciary funds for the assets of the Seattle City Employees’ Retirement System (SCERS), the Firemen’s Pension
Fund, the Police Relief and Pension Fund, the S.L. Denny Private Purpose Trust, and various agency funds. The net position of the
combined fiduciary funds at the end of 2015 is $2.333 billion; SCERS represents 98.7 percent of this amount.

SCERS assets held in trust for the payment of future benefits does not exceed its proportionate share of the total pension liability
as of December 31, 2015. The fund uses the services of both active and index fund professional money managers. SCERS net
position decreased in value by $9.7 million, 0.4 percent, during 2015. For year ending 2015 the member and employer contributions
totaled $166.9 million; net income from investment activity totaled $6.5 million. Total benefit payment for 2015 increased by $9.2
million to $159.3 million. In 2015 the number of retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits was 6222, which increased by 202,
compared to 2014.

At December 31, 2015, the net positions of assets held in trust in the Firemen’s Pension Fund and the Police Relief and Pension
Fund for the payment of future benefits were $14.9 million and $4.7 million, respectively.

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

For the General Fund budgetary highlights, the Library Fund, which has its own legally adopted annual budget, is excluded from
this discussion.

City Council passed the 2015 Adopted and 2016 Endorsed Budget (Ordinance 124648) authorizing a $4.8 billion budget for the
City’s annual operations. The General subfund's budgeted expenditures account for 21.7 percent or $1.045 billion of the total adopted
budget. When considering additional budgets for general support transferred and other subfund expenditures reporting within the
General Fund’s presentation, 2015’s total appropriation budget for the General Fund is $1.345 billion, 25.8 million greater than the
previous year.
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The General Fund’s 2015 revised appropriation budget differed from the original budget due to supplemental appropriations approved
by the City Council during the year and carryforward budgets from the prior year. For budgetary comparisons the General Funds
presentation on schedules C-1 and D-11 report actual expenditure and revenue totals without the elimination of reimbursements
collected internally through the City's personnel compensation trust funds.

The final revised budget for the General Fund was $1.488 billion, a 10.6 percent increase over Council’s adopted budget. The most
significant budget activities are described below:

* Atyear-end 2015 actual expenditures and transfers of $1.331 billion were $156.8 million less than budgeted. Of this amount
$90.6 million of the budget will be carried over into 2015 to cover outstanding encumbrances, grants, and capital spending.

*  The overall change in the General Fund’s carryforward budget from 2014 to 2015 decreased 16.1 percent, from $84.0 million
to $70.5 million. Nearly 67.7 percent of 2015°s carryforward budget is within the Cumulative Reserve Subfunds, with $44.7
million reported in the Real Estate Excise Tax (REET Iand REET IT) Subfunds , and $12.2 million in the Unrestricted Cumulative
Reserve Subfund. The General Subfund accounted for the remaining 37.2 percent of the carryforward budget, with Police and
Fire Departments contributing $16.9 million of this amount.

*  The final budget for the REET I and REET II Cumulative Reserve subfunds, which includes expenditures and transfers, was
$92.9 million, of this amount $75.7 million is budgeted for capital projects. Approximately 50.5 percent, $47.3 million of the
budget was expended in 2015. The carryforward budget balances for the REET I and REET II Cumulative Reserve Subfunds
funds is $44.7 million and will be used to support capital activity in 2015.

»  City Council authorized an additional $55.7 million of supplemental appropriations for the General Fund in 2015, 90.4 percent
were revisions for the General subfund. Budget revisions totaling $22.5 million applied directly to the Seattle Police Department,
$10.6 million to the Seattle Fire Department, seven executive offices received supplemental appropriations totaling $5.5 million.

*  In 2015 the total revised budget for grant resources within the General Fund totaled $47.5 million, with actual grant revenue
generating $17.7 million during the year. The adopted budget provided $12.3 million in additional grant resources for the
Cumulative Reserve subfunds, and $15.9 million of budget was carryforward from 2014. Through supplemental legislation the
Council authorized an additional $18.4 million of grant funding during the year. This includes $12.3 million for the City's public
safety functions, supporting 22 projects of which 20 are new in 2015.

*  The General Fund’s budget for the public safety function increased 1.7 percent in 2015, totaling $555.2 million. The actual
costs of current expenditures and capital outlay of the City's public safety function totaled $531.9 million, consuming 95.8
percent of the resources budgeted for 2015, of which 99.4 percent is for current operations and 0.6 percent on capital outlay.
The 1.5 percent year over year increase in current expenditures totaling $7.9 million was in line with the budgeted increase.
Detailed information on the City’s two major public safety departments follows:

*  The Police Department’s 2015 final budget was $324.5 million, a 1.5 percent increase from the 2014 budget level. The
Department expended 96.2 percent of its budget during the year, with actual expenditures increasing 2.3 percent, from
$305.4 million in 2014 to $312.3 million in 2015. Patrol operations were budgeted at $128.0 million for all five city
precincts, a 2.4 percent increase over 2014°s budget. Patrol operations for 2015 consumed 98.8 percent of the budgeted
resources and accounted for 40.5 percent of the entire Department’s annual operating costs. Of the remaining budget, $4.8
million will carryforward into 2015 for grant purposes.

* The Fire Department’s 2015 final budget was $194.8 million, a 1.4 percent increase from the 2014 budget level of $192.0
million. The Department expended 95.2 percent of its budget during the year, with actual expenditures falling 0.4 percent,
from $186.1 million in 2014 to $185.4 million in 2015. Fire Operations for 2015 consumed 99.9 percent of the $153.0
million in budgeted resources and accounted for 82.5 percent of the entire Department’s annual operating costs. Of the
remaining budget, $7.5 million will carryforward into 2014 for grant purposes.

*  For 2015 the General Fund reports actual revenues of $1.397 billion, a 5.2 percent increase, $72.8 million larger than 2014’s
total balance. The General subfund generated 77.8 percent of these revenues, $1.086 billion, which was 1.0 percent greater
than Council's last revised budget of $1.076 billion, and 4.2 percent greater greater than the previous years collection.
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CAPITAL ASSETS

The following schedule shows the City’s investment in capital assets.

Table A-5 CAPITAL ASSETS AT YEAR END, NET OF DEPRECIATION
(In Thousands)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
Restated Restated
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Land $ 572,081 $ 571,056 $ 167,712 $ 162,685 $ 739,793 $ 733,740
Plant in Service, Excluding Land — — 4,482,056 4,164,715 4,482,056 4,164,715
Buildings and Improvements 1,547,815 1,583,860 26,057 28,061 1,573,872 1,611,921
Machinery and Equipment 126,798 124,830 441 919 127,239 125,749
Infrastructure 1,031,128 1,062,206 — — 1,031,128 1,062,206
Construction in Progress 813,955 553,900 646,162 535,573 1,460,117 1,089,474
Other Capital Assets 16,428 16,040 77,901 87,428 94,329 103,469
Total Capital Assets $ 4,108,205 $ 3,911,892 $ 5,400,329 $ 4,979,382 $ 9,508,535 $ 8,891,274

Capital assets, net of depreciation, for governmental activities increased by $196.3 million in 2015. The main increase is attributable
to the following:

» The Department of Transportation capitalized $29.7 million for various infrastructure assets (roads, bridges, sidewalks, signs,
illuminations, and others). Construction in Progress increased $260.1 million over the prior year.

* The Department of Parks and Recreation capitalized various community parks improvements, renovation and restorations such
as Magnuson Park renovation at $4.7 million; Washington park at $2.3 million; Zoo parking garage at $2.0 million; Maple Leaf
parks reservoir at $3.7 million; and other community parks and buildings improvements and renovation at $12.2 million.

Capital assets, net of depreciation, for business-type activities increased by $420.9 million. Major increases included the
following:

+ Seattle City Light's net capital assets increased by $233.1 million in 2015. This increase was primarily comprised of $140.2
million for distribution plant underground and overhead system: transmissions, transformers and poles, and streetlights and
meters at $25.7 million: hydroelectric productions at $59.3 million: General and Intangibles at $54.6 million. Construction in
progress increased by $67.5 over last year.

» The Drainage and Wastewater Utility's net capital assets increased by $104.1 million compared to last year. Major increases
were for the construction of 2 million gallons of storage for the combine sewer system in the Windermere drainage basin at
$59.4 million: construction of two combined sewer overflow facilities in the South Genesee area at $45.2 million; replacement
of sewer pipelines at $9.0 million; development of a natural drainage system at Venema Creek at $6.1 million and Implementation
of a permanent solution to storm water flooding and side sewer backups in the Madison Valley area.

» The Solid Waste Utility's net capital asset for the year ended December 31, 2015 is $205.7 million. This represents an increase
of approximately 49.0 million over the last year. Waste Utility spent $55.2 million for construction of multi-year projects; $2.4
million related to these projects were capitalized as an asset. Capital assets placed in service during the year include the following:
$1.4 million for heavy equipment purchases; $0.7 million for IT infrastructure upgrades and $0.3 million for additions to the
South Transfer Station.

» The Water Utility's net capital assets increased by $35.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to 2014. The
Water utility capitalized the following: $14.7 million for water infrastructure improvements and rehabilitation; $14.7 million
for facility improvements to Landsburg site; $10.9 million for reservoir covering and improvement; $3.2 million for distribution
infrastructure system improvement; $2.4 million for purchases of heavy equipment and technology infrastructure improvement
totaling $2.3 million. Construction in progress increase by $26.1 million over the last year.

More detailed financial information about the City’s capital asset activities is presented in Note 6 to the financial statements.
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DEBT ADMINISTRATION

At the end of the fiscal year 2015 the City had $4.740 billion in outstanding bonded debt that included general obligation and
revenue bonds, compared to $4.416 billion in 2014. This represents an increase of approximately $324.1 million, 7.3 percent.
The special assessments bonds that the City issued in 2006, without lending its full faith and credit but obligated in some manner
for the design and construction of the South Lake Union Streetcar, had the outstanding balance of $8.8 million. In 2015 LTGO
and UTGO bonds were issued to finance various capital improvement projects including Bridge Rehab, South Park Bridge,
Alaska Way Corridor, Fire Facilities, Golf and other IT projects. In addition, the part of the 2015 LTGO bonds proceeds was
used for the partial refunding of the 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 bonds.

The City also issued revenue bonds: $271.9 million for the Light Fund, $340.8 million for the Water Fund and $35.8 million
for the Solid Waste Fund to finance certain capital improvements and conservation programs. The City’s bond ratings remained
similar to the ratings for the previous year. The City’s UTGO bonds are rated Aaa by Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s),
AAA by Fitch Ratings (Fitch), and AAA by Standard & Poor’s (S&P), which are the highest possible ratings. The City’s LTGO
bonds are rated Aal by Moody’s, AA+ by Fitch, and AAA by S&P. In addition, the City’s utilities have very high ratings for
revenue debt, reflecting sound finances and good management.

The City’s limited and unlimited general obligation debt is capped at 7.5 percent of assessed value by state law. The 2015 assessed
value of taxable properties based on the latest report for the City is $163.924 billion. At the end of 2015 the net outstanding
general obligation debt of the City that includes bonds, compensated absences net of sick leave, and guarantees of indebtedness
amounted to $1.150 billion, well below the limit of $12.294 billion, rendering the City’s legal debt margin of $11.144 billion.
Within the 7.5 percent limitation, state law restricts outstanding LTGO bonds to 1.5 percent of assessed value. At year end 2015
the LTGO net outstanding debt was $862.1 million.

The City is self-insured for workers compensation and for most health care costs. The City carries general liability insurance
with a self-insured retention. For these claims, including those incurred but not reported, the City recognized a total liability of
$107.3 million ($81.6 million for governmental activities and $25.8 million for business-type activities) at the end of the year.
In addition, City utilities and Department of Parks and Recreation recognized a combined $121.3 million in estimated
environmental liabilities. Other obligations were accrued for compensation absences for sick leave and other notes and contracts.
The other notes and contracts included draws from the State’s Public Works Trust Loan (PWTL) Program which are serviced
with revenues from two participating City departments, one with a governmental type fund and one whose PWTL activities are
reported in two of its business-type funds.

More detailed information about the City’s long-term liabilities is presented in Note 9 to the financial statement.

ECONOMIC FACTORS

In June 2016 the nation’s recovery from the Great Recession will be seven years old, making it one of the longest expansions during
post-World War II period. Although employment growth during the recovery has been relatively healthy, on many dimensions,
including GDP growth, wage growth and productivity, the recovery has disappointed. Despite the weakness at the national level,
the Seattle metro area has had a healthy recovery, in large part due to its strong technology sector. Through April 2016, Seattle metro
area (King and Snohomish Counties) employment was up 18.0 percent from its post-recession low in February 2010, compared to
a 10.9 percent gain in U.S. employment over the same period. The metro area’s seasonally adjusted unemployment rate was 4.8
percent in April, 0.2 percent below the national rate of 5.0 percent.

Industries instrumental in the region’s recovery include acrospace, professional, scientific, and technical services, health services,
and mail order and internet retail. Aerospace provided a big lift to the local economy during the early stages of the recovery, adding
14,000 jobs in 2011 and 2012. However, acrospace employment peaked in November 2012 and has been declining slowly since
then. In 2016 the rate of decline has accelerated, with the Boeing Company, the region’s largest employer expected to cut as many
as 8,000 jobs during the year in an effort to contain costs. The software industry, which includes Microsoft, has added 5,900 jobs
from its low point in early 2010. The industry making the greatest contribution to the recovery has been mail order and internet
retail, which is dominated by Amazon.com. This industry has added approximately 20,000 jobs at a relatively steady pace during
the recovery.

Thus far during the recovery, the region’s growth has been concentrated in the city of Seattle, the region’s major business and
professional service center and home to Amazon.com’s rapidly growing headquarters. Strong job growth in Seattle and the growing
popularity of in-city living has led to a surge in construction activity focused in multi-family housing and office development. The
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value of permits issued for construction activity in Seattle has grown from $1.5 billion in 2010 to $3.8 billion in 2015, an increase
of 147 percent.

With the aerospace industry now cutting jobs, employment growth is predicted to slow going forward. 2015 is expected to be the
peak year for employment growth (at 3.0 percent) during the current cycle. The Puget Sound Economic Forecaster predicts that
employment growth will average a modest 1.4 percent per year over the next five years. Personal income growth is forecast to range
between 4.6 and a 4.8 percent, 2.6 percent per year faster than the rate of inflation.

Financial Contact

The City’s financial statements are designed to provide users with a general overview of the City’s finances as well as to demonstrate
the City’s accountability to its citizens, investors, creditors, and other customers. If you have a question about the report, please
contact the City of Seattle, Department of Finance and Administrative Services, Citywide Accounting and Payroll Services Division,
P.O. Box 94669, Seattle, WA 98124-4669 (Telephone 206-233-7825).
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B-1
Page 1 of 3

ASSETS
Current Assets

Operating Cash and Equity in Pooled
Investments

Restricted Cash and Equity in Pooled
Investments

Investments

Receivables, Net of Allowances
Internal Balances

Due from Other Governments
Inventories

Prepaid and Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets

Restricted Cash and Equity in Pooled
Investments

Contracts and Notes

Conservation Costs, Net

Landfill Closure and Postclosure Costs, Net
Environmental Costs and Recoveries

Net Pension Asset

Regulatory Asset

Other Charges and Noncurrent Assets

Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated
Depreciation

Land and Land Rights

Plant in Service, Excluding Land
Buildings and Improvements
Machinery and Equipment
Infrastructure

Construction in Progress

Other Capital Assets

Total Noncurrent Assets
Total Assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF
RESOURCES

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of
Resources

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)

Primary Government

Comparative Totals

Governmental Business-Type Restated Component
Activities Activities 2015 2014 Units

831,616 $ 392,611 $ 1,224,227 1,001,645 5,139
12,178 — 12,178 20,014 —
— — — — 61,214
114,557 230,028 344,585 316,499 —
26,794 (26,794) — — —
100,641 10,863 111,504 101,969 —
4,042 39,250 43,292 40,433 —
1,653 1,755 3,408 2,925 —
1,091,481 647,713 1,739,194 1,483,485 66,353
51,984 431,139 483,123 562,038 —
8,617 1,500 10,117 9,967 —
— 275,337 275,337 259,660 —
— 12,326 12,326 13,004 —
— 33,286 33,286 35,293 —
168,446 — 168,446 11,233 —
— 17,520 17,520 18,250 —
— 118,905 118,905 113,137 —
572,081 167,712 739,793 733,740 —
— 4,482,056 4,482,056 4,164,715 —
1,547,815 26,057 1,573,872 1,611,921 —
126,798 441 127,239 125,749 —
1,031,128 — 1,031,128 1,062,206 —
813,955 646,162 1,460,117 1,089,474 —
16,428 77,901 94,329 103,469 2
4,337,252 6,290,342 10,627,594 9,913,856 2
5,428,733 6,938,055 12,366,788 11,397,341 66,355
579,349 117,201 696,550 504,110 —
6,008,082 7,055,256 13,063,338 11,901,451 66,355

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Washington State Auditor's Office

Page 58



The City of Seattle

B-1 STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Page 2 of 3 December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)

Primary Government

Comparative Totals

Governmental Business-Type Restated Component
Activities Activities 2015 2014 Units

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable $ 148,355  $ 86,931 $ 235286 $ 193,994 § 2,529
Salaries, Benefits, and Taxes Payable 40,411 24,644 65,055 50,833 —
Contracts Payable 5,453 — 5,453 10,044 —
Due to Other Governments 7,399 12,732 20,131 18,421 —
Interest Payable 8,391 56,946 65,337 65,301 —
Taxes Payable 90 10,877 10,967 9,426 —
Deposits Payable — — — 848 —
Unearned Revenues 13,954 35,291 49,245 39,003 —
Current Portion of Long-Term Debt

Bonds Payable 74,465 175,640 250,105 234,140 —

Compensated Absences Payable 20,579 5,020 25,599 26,724 —

Notes and Contracts Payable 1,770 2,338 4,108 4271 —

Claims Payable 23,709 26,093 49,802 55,630 —

Habitat Conservation Program Liability — 906 906 1,138 —

Landfill Closure and Postclosure Liability — 1,522 1,522 1,064 —
Other Current Liabilities 2,139 4,110 6,249 8,833 —
Total Current Liabilities 346,715 443,050 789,765 719,670 2,529
Noncurrent Liabilities

Bonds Payable, Net of Unamortized
Premiums, Discounts, and Other 972,182 3,879,789 4,851,971 4,486,083 —

Bond Interest Payable — — — _ _
Special Assessment Bonds with
Governmental Commitment 8,825 — 8,825 10,395 —
Compensated Absences Payable 70,577 33,398 103,975 111,621 —
Claims Payable 58,436 120,420 178,856 175,926 —
Notes and Contracts Payable 11,049 36,570 47,619 44,303 —
Landfill Closure and Postclosure Liability — 14,163 14,163 14,990 —
Vendor Deposits Payable 225 1,824 2,049 1,056 —
Habitat Conservation Program Liability — 7,156 7,156 6,493 —
Unearned Revenues — 25,778 25,778 23,544 —
Arbitrage Rebate Liability 9 — 9 10 —
Unfunded Other Post Employment Benefits 116,550 15,980 132,530 102,252 —
Net Pension Liability 594,563 512,237 1,106,800 — —
Other Noncurrent Liabilities 3,339 105 3,444 4,019 —
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 1,835,755 4,647,420 6,483,175 4,980,692 —
Total Liabilities 2,182,470 5,090,470 7,272,940 5,700,362 2,529
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES 523,316 143,521 666,837 621,251 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Government-Wide Financial Statements

B-1 STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Page 3 of 3 December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)

Primary Government

Comparative Totals

Governmental Business-Type Restated Component
Activities Activities 2015 2014 Units

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 3,144,486 $ 1,915,893  § 5,060,379 $ 4,835,801 $ 2

Restricted for
Debt Service 11,548 — 11,548 15,665 —
Capital Projects 210,572 — 210,572 167,498 301
Rate Stabilization Account 25,000 25,000 25,047 —
Education and Development Services 50,251 — 50,251 45811 15,241
Special Deposits — — — — —
Conservation and Environmental Costs — 7,497 7,497 7,065 —
Bonneville Power Administration Projects — — — — —
External Infrastructure Costs — 7,218 7,218 7,061 —
Muckleshoot Settlement — — — — —
Other Charges — 19,479 19,479 18,866 —
Health Care Reserve 29,980 — 29,980 29,980 —
Transportation Programs 14,001 — 14,001 33,816 —
Low-Income Housing Programs 135,079 — 135,079 99,003 —
Other Purposes 102,925 — 102,925 55,109 85
Nonexpendable 2,050 — 2,050 2,052 28,853

Unrestricted (398,596) (153,822) (552,418) 237,064 19,343

Total Net Position 3,302,296 1,821,265 5,123,561 5,579,838 63,825

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources, and Net Position $ 6,008,082 $ 7,055,256 $ 13,063,338  $ 11,901,451 $ 66,354

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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The City of Seattle

B-2
Page 1 of 2

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)

Program Expenses

Program Revenues

. Indirect Charges for Operating Grants Capital Grants and
Functions/Programs Expenses Expenses Services and Contributions Contributions
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
General Government 229,134 $ (20,496) $ 104,651 15,235  § —
Judicial 28,477 — 30,030 152 —
Public Safety 530,093 1,430 26,227 13,037 —
Physical Environment 4,351 — 16 937 —
Transportation 216,403 5,040 67,948 24,173 20,027
Economic Environment 138,878 — 41,875 30,732 6,700
Health and Human Services 94,122 — 64 36,619 —
Culture and Recreation 286,395 — 70,360 16,096 2,631
Interest on Long-Term Debt 32,694 — — — —
Total Governmental Activities 1,560,547 (14,026) 341,171 136,981 29,358
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Light 832,751 5,109 880,788 4,595 39,375
Water 225,980 2,261 251,977 217 10,394
Drainage and Wastewater 314,172 2,315 359,839 1,482 10,346
Solid Waste 172,504 808 174,365 584 —
Planning and Development 61,140 3,533 65,278 210 —
Downtown Parking Garage 7,401 — 7,885 — —
Fiber Leasing 35 — 12 — —
Total Business-Type Activities 1,613,983 14,026 1,740,144 7,088 60,115
Total Government-Wide Activities 3,174,530 $ — 2,081,315 144,069 § 89,473
COMPONENT UNITS 7,383 $ — 3 274 4,084 §$ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Government-Wide Financial Statements

B-2
Page 2 of 2

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

General Government
Judicial

Public Safety

Physical Environment
Transportation

Economic Environment
Health and Human Services
Culture and Recreation
Interest on Long-Term Debt

Total Governmental Activities
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Light
Water
Drainage and Wastewater
Solid Waste
Planning and Development
Downtown Parking Garage
Fiber Leasing
Total Business-Type Activities
Total Government-Wide Activities
COMPONENT UNITS
General Revenues
Property Taxes
Sales Taxes
Business Taxes
Excise Taxes
Other Taxes
Penalties and Interest on Delinquent Taxes
Unrestricted Investment Earnings (Loss)
Gain on Sale of Capital Assets

Special Item - Environmental Remediation
Transfers

Total General Revenues (Loss), Special
Item, and Transfers

Changes in Net Position

Net Position - Beginning of Year
Restatements/Prior-Year Adjustments

Net Position - Beginning of Year as Restated

Net Position - End of Year

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Net Revenue (Expense) and Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

Comparative Totals

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Governmental Business-Type Restated Component
Activities Activities 2015 2014 Units
(88,752) § — 8 (88,752) § (86,191)
1,705 — 1,705 2,542
(492,260) — (492,260) (525,698)
(3,398) — (3,398) (3,425)
(109,295) — (109,295) (72,759)
(59,571) — (59,571) (65,848)
(57,439) — (57,439) (44,101)
(197,308) — (197,308) (189,928)
(32,694) — (32,694) (31,170)
(1,039,012) — (1,039,012) (1,016,578)
— 86,898 86,898 117,139
— 34,347 34,347 29,956
— 55,180 55,180 50,979
— 1,637 1,637 976)
— 815 815 (1,302)
— 484 484 24
— 23) 23) (1D
— 179,338 179,338 195,761
(1,039,012) 179,338 (859,674) (820,817)
$ (3,024)
420,691 — 420,691 431,458 —
239,189 — 239,189 199,735 —
454,086 — 454,086 431,437 —
101,098 — 101,098 65,364 —
17,733 — 17,733 16,770 —
— — — 4,091 —
9,202 13,938 23,140 28,045 546
9,071 2,767 11,838 4,520 —
— (4,975) (4,975) (4,949) —
(8,931) 8,931 — — —
1,242,139 20,661 1,262,800 1,176,471 546
203,127 199,999 403,126 355,654 (2,478)
3,517,878 2,061,960 5,579,838 5,227,379 66,304
(418,709) (440,694) (859,403) (3,195) —
3,099,169 1,621,266 4,720,435 5,224,184 66,304
3,302,296 § 1,821,265 § 5,123,561 § 5,579,838  § 63,826
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Fund Financial Statements

MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City. It accounts for all financial resources except those required to be accounted
for in another fund. It derives the majority of its revenues from property, sales, business, and utility taxes.

Asdescribed in Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental
Fund Type Definitions, was implemented in fiscal year 2011. The Library Fund no longer met the definition for a special revenue fund
and has been included in the General Fund financial statements.

The Transportation Fund accounts for revenues for construction, improvement, repair, or maintenance of City streets and waterways.
Revenues include taxes on the sale, distribution, or use of motor vehicle fuel; property taxes, commercial parking taxes, and motor vehicle
excise taxes designated for street purposes; and grants.

The Low-Income Housing Fund manages activities undertaken by the City to preserve, rehabilitate, or replace low-income housing. It
also accounts for a seven-year housing levy approved by the voters in 2009 to provide, produce, and/or preserve affordable housing in
Seattle and to assist low-income tenants in Seattle. Operating costs in the administration of the levy are accounted for in the Office of
Housing Fund, a nonmajor special revenue fund.

Descriptions for the nonmajor governmental funds are provided in the Combining and Individual Fund and Other Supplementary
Information section.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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The City of Seattle

B-3
Page 1 of 2

ASSETS

Cash and Equity in Pooled Investments
Receivables, Net of Allowances

Due from Other Funds

Due from Other Governments
Interfund Loans and Advances

Other Current Assets

Total Assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF
RESOURCES

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of

Resources

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable

Contracts Payable

Salaries, Benefits, and Taxes Payable
Due to Other Funds

Due to Other Governments
Revenues Collected in Advance
Interfund Loans and Advances

Other Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES

FUND BALANCES

Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned

Unassigned

Total Fund Balances

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources, and Fund Balances

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
December 31, 2015

(In Thousands)

Comparative Totals

General Low-Income Other
Fund Transportation Housing Governmental 2015 2014
$ 300,584 $ 58,734 137,627 §$ 306,982 803,927 § 630,630
79,481 10,708 586 21,326 112,101 100,127
16,976 35,772 223 16,851 69,822 73,833
58,901 13,234 241 28,130 100,506 95,165
12,267 — — 24,165 36,432 38,105
422 514 — 608 1,544 2,565
468,631 118,962 138,677 398,062 1,124,332 940,425
7,775 — 427,316 47,022 482,113 455,833
$ 476,406 $ 118,962 565,993 $ 445,084 1,606,445 § 1,396,258
$ 35355 § 30,553 1,482 § 42,344 109,734 $ 90,503
303 4,150 — 1,001 5,454 10,043
24,216 3,555 — 6,961 34,732 31,015
15,193 4,508 61 37,079 56,841 58,380
2,339 — — 5,021 7,360 6,828
3,024 4,126 — 6,803 13,953 8,300
— — — 28,790 28,790 31,611
236 430 55 646 1,367 6,083
80,666 47,322 1,598 128,645 258,231 242,763
11,813 643 427,624 57,456 497,536 473,930
$ 474 $ 515 — 2,712 3,701 $ 4,698
136,627 14,001 135,079 268,652 554,359 446,882
97,296 56,481 1,692 10,774 166,243 137,106
5,767 — — 11,004 16,771 15,618
143,763 — — (34,159) 109,604 75,261
383,927 70,997 136,771 258,983 850,678 679,565
$ 476,406 $ 118,962 565,993 $ 445,084 § 1,606,445 $ 1,396,258

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Fund Financial Statements

B-3
Page 2 of 2

Governmental Fund Balance

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported

in the funds.

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred

in the funds.

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of Fleets and Facilities, Information
Technology, and Engineering Services to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal
service funds are included in the governmental activities in the statement of net position. Adjustments
to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund (ISF) activities related to enterprise funds and prior-
year adjustment (B-6) are added back to ISF total net position, and the latter amounts are included in

governmental activities.
Net pension asset net of pension obligations

Deferred inflows and outflows of resources

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore,

are not reported in the funds.
Claims Payable - Current
Accrued Interest Payable
Current Portion of Long-Term Debt
Compensated Absences Payable
General Obligation Bonds Payable
Less Bond Discount and Premium
Special Assessment Bonds
Net Pension Liability
Notes and Other Long-Term Liabilities
Compensated Absences - Long-Term
Claims Payable - Long-Term
Workers' Compensation
Arbitrage
Unfunded Other Post Employment Benefits
Net Adjustments

Net Position of Governmental Activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Comparative Totals

Restated
2015 2014
850,675 $ 679,566
3,381,844 § 3,205,733
10,459 9,536
419,713 498,046
168,446 11,233
53,661 8,256
(14,669) (14,243)
(6,000) (5,819)
(52,412) (48,503)
(19,897) (22,770)
(671,701) (507,635)
(56,496) (40,586)
(8,825) (10,395)
(493,179) —
(17,089) (19,349)
(64,269) (75,020)
(37.610) (40,233)
(27,126) (26,167)
©) (10)
(113,220) (83,760)
2,451,621 2,838,313
3,302,296 $ 3,517,878
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The City of Seattle

B4

REVENUES

Taxes

Licenses and Permits

Grants, Shared Revenues, and Contributions
Charges for Services

Fines and Forfeits

Concessions, Parking Fees and Space Rent

Program Income, Interest, and Miscellaneous
Revenues

Total Revenues
EXPENDITURES

Current
General Government
Judicial
Public Safety
Physical Environment
Transportation
Economic Environment
Health and Human Services
Culture and Recreation
Capital Outlay
General Government
Public Safety
Transportation
Economic Environment
Culture and Recreation
Debt Service
Principal
Interest
Bond Issuance Cost
Other

Total Expenditures

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over
Expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Long-Term Debt Issued

Refunding Debt Issued

Premium on Bonds Issued

Payment to Refunded Bond Escrow Agent
Sales of Capital Assets

Transfers In

Transfers Out

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balances - Beginning of Year

Fund Balances - End of Year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES

Comparative Totals

Low-Income Other 2015 2014
General Transportation Housing Governmental

$ 987,815 $ 84,791 §$ 17,934  § 142,593  § 1,233,133  § 1,149,120
27,119 6,043 — 976 34,138 30,093
32,198 35,320 7,001 86,640 161,159 161,361
61,637 71,989 27,037 64,393 225,056 221,187
32,769 258 — 5,982 39,009 37,142
39,154 95 — 28,195 67,444 63,891
38,041 512 9,526 11,322 59,401 86,757
1,218,733 199,008 61,498 340,101 1,819,340 1,749,551
202,162 — — 22,559 224,721 204,662
29,351 — — — 29,351 29,158
528,582 — — 8,486 537,068 525,778
6,292 — — 1,022 7,314 7,409
9,240 120,004 — 26,445 155,689 114,737
18,885 — 30,146 92,690 141,721 140,079
76 — — 96,192 96,268 78,024
75,092 — — 193,887 268,979 245,358
13,495 — — 16,463 29,958 35,599
3,103 — — 9,994 13,097 25,162
— 278,151 — — 278,151 278,550
— — — — — 6
16,380 — — 19,332 35,712 55,133
2 1,912 — 48,795 50,709 61,745
2 117 — 28,880 28,999 26,571
— — — 1,946 1,946 259
902,662 400,184 30,146 566,691 1,899,683 1,828,230
316,071 (201,176) 31,352 (226,590) (80,343) (78,679)
— — — 350,255 350,255 50,455
— — — 40,113 40,113 4,150
— — — (155,030) (155,030) —
18,275 — — 956 19,231 2,128
21,924 208,106 — 268,552 498,582 442,666
(289,603) (22,281) — (189,811) (501,695) (448,411)
(249,404) 185,825 — 315,035 251,456 50,988
66,667 (15,351) 31,352 88,445 171,113 (27,691)
317,260 86,348 105,419 170,538 679,565 707,255
$ 383,927 § 70,997 $ 136,771 § 258,983 § 850,678 $ 679,565

Washington State Auditor's Office
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B-5 RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)

Comparative Totals

Restated
2015 2014
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:
Net change in fund balance - total governmental funds $ 171,111 § (27,692)

Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures and proceeds from the disposition of capital assets as other

financing sources. However, in the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over the estimated

useful life and reported as depreciation expense and the gain or loss is reported as income.
Depreciation expense for the year (116,042) (115,034)
Capital outlay reported as expenditures 302,294 307,271
Retirement and sale of capital assets (11,540) (1,306)
Capital assets received as donations 2,417 (20,504)

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as revenues in

the funds. These are comprised of:
Unavailable resources - property taxes 2,582 (264)
Reduction of long-term receivable 985 1,393

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. bonds, leases) provides current financial resources to governmental  funds

while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental

funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net position. Also, governmental funds report the effect of

issuance cost, premium, discount, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred

and amortized in the statement of activities. These amounts are the result of the differences in the treatment of long-

term debt and related items:
Proceeds of general obligation bonds (350,255) (50,455)
Premium on general obligation bonds (40,113) (4,150)
Proceeds from bond refunding — —
Principal payments bonds/notes 50,677 61,745
Amortization of bond premium 7,065 3,819
Amortization of loss on refunding (1,454) (465)
Minimum capital lease payments 49 117
Bond interest (192) 464
Remittance to refunding escrow using refunding proceeds 155,030 —

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources and,

therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds:
Compensated absences 13,624 (15,180)
Injury and damage claims 2,197 (6,675)
Workers' compensation (959) (18)
Arbitrage 1 2
Unfunded OPEB liabilities (29,460) (12,325)
Net pension asset 18,806 (5,006)
Environmental liability 130 95
Loan to agencies — 4,654
Debt guarantee of SISC 2004 bonds 453 (4,225)
Pension Expense - GASB68 7,748 —
WA State's LEOFF Contribution 9,145 —

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of Fleets and Facilities, Information Technology,

and Engineering Services to individual funds. Adjustments reflect the consolidation of internal service funds

activities to governmental funds:
Operating loss (income) allocated to enterprise funds (8,072) (8,185)
Net revenue of internal service funds activities reported with governmental activities 16,901 26,239

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 203,128 $ 134,315
Initial Recording of Net Pension Liability/Asset Related Items (418,709) —

Adjusted Total Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities (215,581) 134,315

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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The City of Seattle

MAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS

The Light Fund (City Light) accounts for the operations of the City-owned electric utility. City Light owns and operates certain generating,
transmission, and distribution facilities and supplies electricity to approximately 408,000 customers in the Seattle and certain surrounding
communities. City Light also supplies electrical energy to other City agencies at rates prescribed by City ordinances.

The Water Fund accounts for the operations of the City-owned water utility. It maintains three separate sources of water supply, namely
the Tolt and Cedar River watersheds, and Seattle wellfields; approximately 182 miles of supply mains, and distribution storage capacity
of 339 million gallons in reservoirs, tanks, and standpipes. The distribution system serves a population of about 1.4 million people.

The Drainage and Wastewater Fund accounts for the operations of the City-owned sewer and drainage utility facilities and pumping
stations. Those facilities and stations are necessary to collect the sewage of the City and discharge it into King County's treatment and
disposal systems. The utility maintains about 1,893 miles of sewers and drainage mainlines, 75 percent of which are separate sanitary
sewers and storm mainlines. In addition, the City manages 66 pumping stations.

The Solid Waste Fund accounts for the operations of two City-owned transfer stations and for the administration of contracts with private
companies for the collection of residential refuse and commercial garbage. Private individuals and City-administered residential and
commercial collectors bring solid waste to the transfer stations. Solid wastes collected at the transfer stations are compacted, loaded in
containers, and hauled to the Argo cargo loading station. The containers at the Argo station are loaded on railcars and transported to a
landfill in Arlington, Oregon, for final disposal.

Descriptions for the nonmajor enterprise funds and the internal service funds are provided in the Combining and Individual Fund and
Other Supplementary Information section.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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B-6 STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Page 1 of 12 PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)
Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds
Light Water
2015 2014 2015 2014
ASSETS
Current Assets
Operating Cash and Equity in Pooled Investments 152,488 § 128,343  § 42,330 $ 43,553
Restricted Cash and Equity in Pooled Investments — — — —
Receivables, Net of Allowances
Accounts 75,683 70,494 14,305 13,519
Interest and Dividends 414 356 962 910
Unbilled 70,536 64,630 13,834 13,651
Energy Contracts, Notes, and Other Contracts — — 112 107
Due from Other Funds 3,538 1,482 893 760
Due from Other Governments 2,533 2,270 557 583
Materials and Supplies Inventory 32,839 30,829 5,102 5,139
Prepayments and Other Current Assets 1,619 474 72 72
Total Current Assets 339,650 298,878 78,167 78,294
Noncurrent Assets
Restricted Cash and Equity in Pooled Investments 265,130 298,390 95,244 56,623
Notes and Contracts Receivable — — 395 413
Conservation Costs, Net 243,779 228,108 31,558 31,552
Landfill Closure and Postclosure Costs, Net — — — —
Environmental Costs and Recoveries 35,306 38,600 — —
External Infrastructure Costs — — — —
Regulatory Asset — — 11,756 10,988
Other Charges 60,411 52,934 3,930 4,779
Capital Assets
Land and Land Rights 72,670 70,558 44,453 44,261
Plant in Service, Excluding Land 4,168,237 3,936,000 1,844,527 1,791,609
Less Accumulated Depreciation (1,671,849) (1,612,870) (724,570) (681,103)
Buildings and Improvements — — — —
Less Accumulated Depreciation — — — —
Machinery and Equipment — — — —
Less Accumulated Depreciation — — — —
Construction in Progress 319,831 252,371 75,007 48,906
Other Property, Net 72,551 82,258 1,594 1,569
Total Noncurrent Assets 3,566,066 3,346,349 1,383,894 1,309,597
Total Assets 3,905,716 3,645,227 1,462,061 1,387,891
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 49,735 19,318 39,309 18,914
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 3,955,451 $ 3,664,545 § 1,501,370 $ 1,406,805
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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The City of Seattle

B-6 STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Page 2 of 12 PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)
Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds
Drainage and Wastewater Solid Waste
2015 2014 2014
ASSETS
Current Assets
Operating Cash and Equity in Pooled Investments 100,901 § 101,301 $ 42,220 $ 32,395
Restricted Cash and Equity in Pooled Investments — — — —
Receivables, Net of Allowances
Accounts 19,879 18,042 13,201 12,933
Interest and Dividends 427 460 88 69
Unbilled 18,712 18,272 360 417
Energy Contracts, Notes, and Other Contracts 579 76 30 —
Due from Other Funds 865 983 238 244
Due from Other Governments 6,430 2,374 983 967
Materials and Supplies Inventory 1,207 1,043 102 68
Prepayments and Other Current Assets 35 35 18 18
Total Current Assets 149,035 142,586 57,240 47,111
Noncurrent Assets
Restricted Cash and Equity in Pooled Investments 27,579 99,432 43,135 49,173
Notes and Contracts Receivable 1,105 1,159 — —
Conservation Costs, Net — — — —
Landfill Closure and Postclosure Costs, Net — — 12,326 13,004
Environmental Costs and Recoveries 4,115 3,970 1,358 —
External Infrastructure Costs 19,035 19,328 — —
Regulatory Asset 4,048 4,236 1,715 3,026
Other Charges 34,714 35,159 815 937
Capital Assets
Land and Land Rights 22,490 19,767 15,218 15,218
Plant in Service, Excluding Land 1,102,624 941,062 133,782 132,528
Less Accumulated Depreciation (317,154) (296,915) (53,540) (46,989)
Buildings and Improvements — — — —
Less Accumulated Depreciation — — — —
Machinery and Equipment — — — —
Less Accumulated Depreciation — — — —
Construction in Progress 138,238 178,366 108,235 53,945
Other Property, Net 1,713 1,558 2,044 2,044
Total Noncurrent Assets 1,038,507 1,007,122 265,088 222,886
Total Assets 1,187,542 1,149,708 322,328 269,997
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 15,269 6,479 6,328 3,146
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 1,202,811  § 1,156,187 § 328,656 $ 273,143
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Page 3 of 12

ASSETS
Current Assets

Operating Cash and Equity in Pooled Investments
Restricted Cash and Equity in Pooled Investments
Receivables, Net of Allowances

Accounts

Interest and Dividends

Unbilled

Energy Contracts, Notes, and Other Contracts
Due from Other Funds
Due from Other Governments
Materials and Supplies Inventory

Prepayments and Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets

Restricted Cash and Equity in Pooled Investments
Notes and Contracts Receivable
Conservation Costs, Net
Landfill Closure and Postclosure Costs, Net
Environmental Costs and Recoveries
External Infrastructure Costs
Regulatory Asset
Other Charges
Capital Assets
Land and Land Rights
Plant in Service, Excluding Land
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Buildings and Improvements
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Machinery and Equipment
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Construction in Progress
Other Property, Net

Total Noncurrent Assets
Total Assets
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2015

(In Thousands)

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Nonmajor Funds

Comparative Totals

2015 2014 2015 2014

54672 S 40,630 S 392,611 346,222
855 907 123,923 115,895

51 31 1,942 1,826

— — 103,442 96,970

- - 721 183

957 905 6,491 4,374
359 451 10,862 6,645

- - 39,250 37,079

12 42 1,756 641
56,906 42,966 680,998 609,835
50 38 431,138 503,656

- - 1,500 1,572

— — 275,337 259,660

— — 12,326 13,004

— — 40,779 42,570

- - 19,035 19,328

- - 17,519 18,250

- - 99,870 93,809
12,881 12,881 167,712 162,685
— — 7,249,170 6,801,199
- - (2,767,113) (2,637,877)
60,132 60,132 60,132 60,132
(34,075) (32,070) (34,075) (32,070)
14,771 14,766 14,771 14,766
(14,330) (13,846) (14,330) (13,846)
4,852 3,377 646,163 536,965
- - 77,902 87,429
44,281 45278 6,297,836 5,931,232
101,187 88,244 6,978,834 6,541,067
6,561 - 117,202 47,857
107,748 $ 88,244 § 7,096,036 6,588,924

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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ASSETS
Current Assets

Operating Cash and Equity in Pooled Investments
Restricted Cash and Equity in Pooled Investments
Receivables, Net of Allowances

Accounts

Interest and Dividends

Unbilled

Energy Contracts, Notes, and Other Contracts
Due from Other Funds
Due from Other Governments
Materials and Supplies Inventory

Prepayments and Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets

Restricted Cash and Equity in Pooled Investments
Notes and Contracts Receivable
Conservation Costs, Net
Landfill Closure and Postclosure Costs, Net
Environmental Costs and Recoveries
External Infrastructure Costs
Regulatory Asset
Other Charges
Capital Assets
Land and Land Rights
Plant in Service, Excluding Land
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Buildings and Improvements
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Machinery and Equipment
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Construction in Progress

Other Property, Net
Total Noncurrent Assets
Total Assets
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Washington State Auditor's Office

Governmental Activities -

Internal Service Funds

2015 2014
27,690 $ 24,792
12,178 20,014

274 240
43 88
346 24
10,917 9,517
136 159
4,042 2,786
109 425
55,735 58,045
51,984 58,383
108,852 108,832
715,937 717,627
(227,993) (211,792)
233,956 223,388
(135,429) (135,206)
31,038 3,309
778,345 764,541
834,080 822,586
17,796 —
851,876 S 822,586
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LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Salaries, Benefits, and Payroll Taxes Payable
Compensated Absences Payable

Due to Other Funds

Due to Other Governments

Interest Payable

Taxes Payable

General Obligation Bonds Due Within One Year
Revenue Bonds Due Within One Year
Claims Payable

Notes and Contracts Payable

Habitat Conservation Program Liability
Landfill Closure and Postclosure Liability
Unearned Revenues and Other Credits

Other Current Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities

Advances from Other Funds/Interfund Notes Payable
Compensated Absences Payable

Claims Payable

Public Works Trust Loan

Landfill Closure and Postclosure Liability
Vendor and Other Deposits Payable

Habitat Conservation Program Liability
Unearned Revenues and Other Credits
Unfunded Other Post Employment Benefits
Net Pension Liability

Other Noncurrent Liabilities

General Obligation Bonds Payable, Net of
Amortized Premium, Discount and Other

Revenue Bonds Payable, Net of Amortized
Premium, Discount and Other

Bond Interest Payable
Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Washington State Auditor's Office

Light Water
2015 2014 2015 2014
77,849 $ 63,298 10,262 § 8,736
10,248 9,213 4,649 2,543
3,631 1,979 457 468
10,964 10,903 5,646 5,146
34,010 29,970 12,364 16,207
9,365 7,813 746 707
105,915 104,915 41,615 35,015
16,392 27,676 2,249 1,196
— — 1,125 1,125
— — 906 1,138
23,259 19,821 4,553 3,289
2,980 2,467 30 —
294,613 278,055 84,602 75,570
19,354 16,767 4,841 4,845
42,339 42,895 2,600 3,802
— — 21,217 14,996
_ _ 25 _
_ — 7,156 6,493
6,400 6,902 324 347
8,052 7,569 2,703 2,565
271,797 — 82,685 —
— 134 4 15
2,090,831 1,925,192 899,911 877,256
2,438,773 1,999,459 1,021,466 910,319
2,733,386 2,277,514 1,106,068 985,889
89,847 111,486 35,193 27,876
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LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Salaries, Benefits, and Payroll Taxes Payable
Compensated Absences Payable

Due to Other Funds

Due to Other Governments

Interest Payable

Taxes Payable

General Obligation Bonds Due Within One Year
Revenue Bonds Due Within One Year
Claims Payable

Notes and Contracts Payable

Habitat Conservation Program Liability
Landfill Closure and Postclosure Liability
Unearned Revenues and Other Credits

Other Current Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities

Advances from Other Funds/Interfund Notes Payable
Compensated Absences Payable

Claims Payable

Public Works Trust Loan

Landfill Closure and Postclosure Liability
Vendor and Other Deposits Payable

Habitat Conservation Program Liability
Unearned Revenues and Other Credits
Unfunded Other Post Employment Benefits
Net Pension Liability

Other Noncurrent Liabilities

General Obligation Bonds Payable, Net of
Amortized Premium, Discount and Other

Revenue Bonds Payable, Net of Amortized
Premium, Discount and Other

Bond Interest Payable
Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

December 31, 2015

(In Thousands)

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Washington State Auditor's Office

Drainage and Wastewater Solid Waste

2015 2014 2015 2014
10,696 $ 10,178 13,843 10,976
5,010 2,417 1,514 805
432 446 150 149
8,250 9,221 1,893 1,246
12,732 11,589 —
6,994 7,226 2,902 2,149
310 299 372 471
19,080 18,215 5,750 4,895
4,813 3,566 2,375 811
1,212 1,202 — —
— — 1,522 1,063
2,518 2,888 4,961 4,704
641 581 397 —
72,688 67,828 35,679 27,269
4,567 4,625 1,584 1,542
72,919 72,795 8,048 900
15,353 16,566 — —
_ — 14,163 14,990
1,749 1,018 — —
2,580 2,505 860 895
77,047 — 28,188 —
101 59 — 20
625,905 646,693 210,310 177,522
800,221 744,261 263,153 195,869
872,909 812,089 298,832 223,138
— — 18,481 15,795
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LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Salaries, Benefits, and Payroll Taxes Payable
Compensated Absences Payable

Due to Other Funds

Due to Other Governments

Interest Payable

Taxes Payable

General Obligation Bonds Due Within One Year
Revenue Bonds Due Within One Year
Claims Payable

Notes and Contracts Payable

Habitat Conservation Program Liability
Landfill Closure and Postclosure Liability
Unearned Revenues and Other Credits

Other Current Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities

Advances from Other Funds/Interfund Notes Payable
Compensated Absences Payable

Claims Payable

Public Works Trust Loan

Landfill Closure and Postclosure Liability
Vendor and Other Deposits Payable
Habitat Conservation Program Liability
Unearned Revenues and Other Credits
Unfunded Other Post Employment Benefits
Net Pension Liability

Other Noncurrent Liabilities

General Obligation Bonds Payable, Net of
Amortized Premium, Discount and Other

Revenue Bonds Payable, Net of Amortized
Premium, Discount and Other

Bond Interest Payable
Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2015

(In Thousands)

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Nonmajor Funds

Comparative Totals

2015 2014 2015 2014
1,384 2,266 114,034 95,454
3,223 1,626 24,644 16,604
350 318 5,020 3,360
572 510 27,325 27,026
— — 12,732 11,589
676 711 56,946 56,263
85 85 10,878 9,375
3,280 2,950 3,280 2,950
— — 172,360 163,040
265 53 26,094 33,302
— — 2,337 2,327
— — 906 1,138
— — 1,522 1,063
— — 35,291 30,702
63 — 4111 3,048
9,898 8,519 497,480 457,241
7,600 6,494 7,600 6,494
3,052 2,763 33,398 30,542
368 132 126,274 120,524
— — 36,570 31,562
_ — 14,163 14,990
50 38 1,824 1,056
— — 7,156 6,493
19,054 16,295 25,778 23,544
1,784 1,674 15,979 15,208
52,520 — 512,237 —
— — 105 228
52,833 56,293 52,833 56,293
— — 3,826,957 3,626,663
137,261 83,689 4,660,874 3,933,597
147,159 92,208 5,158,354 4,390,838
— — 143,521 155,157

Washington State Auditor's Office
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The City of Seattle

B-6 STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Page 8 of 12 PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)
Governmental Activities -
Internal Service Funds
2015 2014
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable 11,519 8,036
Salaries, Benefits, and Payroll Taxes Payable 5,679 3,213
Compensated Absences Payable 682 595
Due to Other Funds 3,155 2,454
Due to Other Governments 38 4
Interest Payable 2,392 3,172
Taxes Payable 90 51
General Obligation Bonds Due Within One Year 23,776 21,559
Revenue Bonds Due Within One Year — —
Claims Payable 472 577
Notes and Contracts Payable — —
Habitat Conservation Program Liability — —
Landfill Closure and Postclosure Liability — —
Unearned Revenues and Other Credits — —
Other Current Liabilities 336 57
Total Current Liabilities 48,139 39,718
Noncurrent Liabilities
Advances from Other Funds/Interfund Notes Payable
Compensated Absences Payable 6,308 6,058
Claims Payable 1,688 1,434
Public Works Trust Loan — —
Landfill Closure and Postclosure Liability — —
Vendor and Other Deposits Payable 225 104
Habitat Conservation Program Liability — —
Unearned Revenues and Other Credits — —
Unfunded Other Post Employment Benefits 3,330 3,284
Net Pension Liability 101,384 —
Other Noncurrent Liabilities 1 3
General Obligation Bonds Payable, Net of Amortized Premium, Discount and Other 243,984 254,907
Revenue Bonds Payable, Net of Amortized Premium, Discount and Other — —
Bond Interest Payable — —
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 356,920 265,790
Total Liabilities 405,059 305,508
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES — —
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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B-6 STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Page 9 of 12 PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2015

(In Thousands)

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Light Water
2015 2014 2015 2014
NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 1,169,562 $ 1,100,783  $ 388,809 $ 351,175
Restricted for
Rate Stabilization Account 25,000 25,047 — —
Special Deposits and Other — — _ _
Conservation and Environmental Costs — — 7,496 7,064
Bonneville Power Administration Projects — — — —
External Infrastructure Costs — — — —
Muckleshoot Settlement — — — —
Other Charges — — 5,030 4,726
Unrestricted (62,344) 149,715 (41,226) 30,075
Total Net Position 1,132,218 1,275,545 360,109 393,040
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and
Net Position $ 3,955,451 $ 3,664,545 § 1,501,370 $ 1,406,805

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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The City of Seattle

B-6 STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Page 10 of 12 PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2015

(In Thousands)

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Drainage and Wastewater Solid Waste
2015 2014 2015 2014
NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 353,150 $ 301,793  $ 16,277  $ 10,748
Restricted for
Rate Stabilization Account — — — —
Special Deposits and Other — — — —
Conservation and Environmental Costs — — — —
Bonneville Power Administration Projects — — — —
External Infrastructure Costs 7,218 7,061 — —
Muckleshoot Settlement — — — —
Other Charges 14,449 14,140 — —
Unrestricted (44,915) 21,104 (4,934) 23,462
Total Net Position 329,902 344,098 11,343 34,210
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and
Net Position $ 1,202,811  $ 1,156,187 $ 328,656 $ 273,143

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets

Restricted for
Rate Stabilization Account
Special Deposits and Other
Conservation and Environmental Costs
Bonneville Power Administration Projects
External Infrastructure Costs
Muckleshoot Settlement
Other Charges

Unrestricted

Total Net Position

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and

Net Position

Total Net Position as above

Adjustment to Reflect the Consolidation of Internal

Service Fund Activities to Enterprise
Funds

Net Position of Business-type Activities

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2015

(In Thousands)

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Nonmajor Funds

Comparative Totals

2015 2014 2015 2014
(11,904) $ (14,004) $ 1,915,894 1,750,495
— — 25,000 25,047
_ — 7,496 7,064
— — 7,218 7,061
— — 19,479 18,866
(27,507) 10,040 (180,926) 234,396
(39.411) (3,964) 1,794,161 2,042,929
107,748 § 88,244 § 7,096,036 6,588,924
$ 1,794,161 2,042,929
27,104 19,032
$ 1,821,265 2,061,961
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Page 12 of 12

Net Investment in Capital Assets

Restricted for
Rate Stabilization Account
Special Deposits and Other
Conservation and Environmental Costs
Bonneville Power Administration Projects
External Infrastructure Costs
Muckleshoot Settlement
Other Charges

Unrestricted
Total Net Position

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and

Net Position

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Governmental Activities -

Internal Service Funds

2015 2014
469,961 $ 459,033
(23,144) 58,045
446,817 517,078
851,876 $ 822,586

Washington State Auditor's Office
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OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for Services and Other Revenues
OPERATING EXPENSES

Long-Term Purchased Power
Short-Term Wholesale Power Purchases
Generation

Transmission

Distribution

Conservation and Other Power Expenses
Planning and Development

Utility Systems Management

Field Operations

Project Delivery

Customer Services

Wastewater Treatment

Solid Waste Collection

Operations and Maintenance

General and Administrative

City Business and Occupation Taxes
Other Taxes

Amortization of Landfill and Postclosure Costs

Depreciation and Other Amortization
Total Operating Expenses
Operating Income (Loss)

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Investment and Interest Income
Interest Expense

Amortization of Bonds Premiums and Discounts, Net

Amortization of Refunding Loss

Bond Issuance Costs

Gain (Loss) on Sale of Capital Assets
Contributions and Grants

Others, Net

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Income (Loss) Before Capital Contributions and Grants, Transfers,

and Special Items
Capital Contributions and Grants
Transfers In
Transfers Out
Environmental Remediation
Change in Net Position
Net Position - Beginning of Year
Prior-Year Adjustment

Net Position - Beginning of Year as Restated

Net Position - End of Year

Light Water
2015 2014 2015 2014

$ 882,857 § 886,444 $ 251,977 $ 242,946
213,621 214,262 — —
26,812 14,912 — —
34,822 34,962 — —
54,289 52,833 — —
65,052 59,753 — —
53,897 58,151 — —
— — 1,582 1,447

— — 14,622 14,576

— — 31,367 27,315

— — 6,664 4,332
38,302 37,621 8,034 6,252
92,108 75,774 38,947 38,916
45,534 44,588 32,133 30,657
35,580 35,420 10,214 9,484
112,000 105,813 50,043 51,466
772,017 734,089 193,606 184,445
110,840 152,355 58,371 58,501
6,270 7,933 2,838 3,082
(84,721) (83,855) (39,393) (41,525)
12,176 11,151 3,940 3,286
(2,933) (3,752) (1,649) (1,251)
(966) (1,473) — —
921 1,876 2,518 (720)
4,595 3,783 217 182
4,952 4,942 969 1,017
(59,706) (59,395) (30,560) (35,929)
51,134 92,960 27,811 22,572
39,375 28,368 10,394 8,932
90,509 121,328 38,205 31,504
1,275,545 1,154,217 393,040 361,536
(233,836) — (71,136) —
1,041,709 1,154,217 321,904 361,536
$ 1,132,218 8 1,275,545  § 360,109 $ 393,040

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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The City of Seattle

B-7
Page 2 of 4

OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for Services and Other Revenues
OPERATING EXPENSES

Long-Term Purchased Power

Short-Term Wholesale Power Purchases
Generation

Transmission

Distribution

Conservation and Other Power Expenses
Planning and Development

Utility Systems Management

Field Operations

Project Delivery

Customer Services

Wastewater Treatment

Solid Waste Collection

Operations and Maintenance

General and Administrative

City Business and Occupation Taxes
Other Taxes

Amortization of Landfill and Postclosure Costs
Depreciation and Other Amortization
Total Operating Expenses

Operating Income (Loss)
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment and Interest Income

Interest Expense

Amortization of Bonds Premiums and Discounts, Net

Amortization of Refunding Loss

Bond Issuance Costs

Gain (Loss) on Sale of Capital Assets
Contributions and Grants

Others, Net

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Drainage and Wastewater

Solid Waste

Income (Loss) Before Capital Contributions and Grants, Transfers,

and Special Items
Capital Contributions and Grants
Transfers In
Transfers Out
Environmental Remediation
Change in Net Position
Net Position - Beginning of Year
Prior-Year Adjustment
Net Position - Beginning of Year as Restated
Net Position - End of Year

2015 2014 2014

$ 363,779 $ 342,000 $ 174,788  $ 157,498
1,750 1,787 203 163

11,249 11,374 10,617 1,661
29,593 26,431 6,950 7,216

9,790 8,100 1,103 546

6,472 4,403 6,592 5,035
150,326 140,307 — —

— — 100,042 96,867

22,064 25,034 14,250 14,493
42,876 40,266 17,987 17,716
4,549 4,329 2,588 2,506

— — 1,300 1,301

23,452 22,190 8,109 8,188
302,121 284,221 169,741 155,692
61,658 57,779 5,047 1,806

3,646 4,009 725 751
(22,156) (20,616) (5,651) (5,798)
1,709 1,542 736 478
(394) (384) (179) (109)

(229) (817) (443) 2,420

1,482 978 584 953

1,003 170 565 1,338
(14,939) (15,118) (3,663) 33
46,719 42,661 1,384 1,839
10,346 10,752 — 78
(4,975) (4,949) — —
52,090 48,464 1,384 1,917
344,098 295,634 34,210 32,293
(66,286) — (24,251) —
277,812 295,634 9,959 32,293

$ 329,902 $ 344,098 § 11,343 § 34,210

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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B-7 STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND
Page 3 of 4 CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for Services and Other Revenues
OPERATING EXPENSES

Long-Term Purchased Power

Short-Term Wholesale Power Purchases
Generation

Transmission

Distribution

Conservation and Other Power Expenses
Planning and Development

Utility Systems Management

Field Operations

Project Delivery

Customer Services

Wastewater Treatment

Solid Waste Collection

Operations and Maintenance

General and Administrative

City Business and Occupation Taxes
Other Taxes

Amortization of Landfill and Postclosure Costs
Depreciation and Other Amortization
Total Operating Expenses

Operating Income (Loss)
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment and Interest Income

Interest Expense

Amortization of Bonds Premiums and Discounts, Net
Amortization of Refunding Loss

Bond Issuance Costs

Gain (Loss) on Sale of Capital Assets
Contributions and Grants

Others, Net

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Income (Loss) Before Capital Contributions and Grants, Transfers,
and Special Items

Capital Contributions and Grants

Transfers In

Transfers Out

Environmental Remediation

Change in Net Position

Net Position - Beginning of Year

Prior-Year Adjustment

Net Position - Beginning of Year as Restated
Net Position - End of Year

Accumulated Adjustment to Reflect the Consolidation of Internal
Service Fund Activities Related to Enterprise Funds

Net Position of Business-Type Activities

Change in Net Position as above

Current Year Adjustment to Reflect the Consolidation of Internal
Service Fund Activities Related to Enterprise Funds

Adjusted Change in Net Position of Business-Type Activities

Nonmajor Funds

Comparative Totals

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Washington State Auditor's Office

2015 2014 2015 2014
$ 74,566 $ 65,548 $ 1,747,967 1,694,436
— — 213,621 214,262
— — 26,812 14,912
— — 34,822 34,962
— — 54,289 52,833
— — 65,052 59,753
— — 53,897 58,151
— — 3,535 3,397
— — 36,488 27,611
— — 67,910 60,962
— — 17,557 12,978
— — 59,400 53,311
— — 150,326 140,307
— — 100,042 96,867
56,058 50,899 56,058 50,899
13,519 11,580 180,888 165,797
17 16 138,547 133,243
37 35 52,968 51,774
— — 1,300 1,301
2,519 2,589 196,123 190,246
72,150 65,119 1,509,635 1,423,566
2,416 429 238,332 270,870
459 480 13,938 16,255
(2,787) (2,939) (154,708) (154,733)
198 198 18,759 16,655
— — (5,155) (5,496)
— — (966) (1,473)
— — 2,767 2,759
210 259 7,088 6,155
310 — 7,799 7,467
(1,610) (2,002) (110,478) (112,411)
806 (1,573) 127,854 158,459
— — 60,115 48,130
12,337 11,512 12,337 11,512
(3,406) — (3,400) —
— — (4,975) (4,949)
9,737 9,939 191,925 213,152
(3,964) (13,903) 2,042,929 1,829,777
(45,184) — (440,693) —
(49,148) (13,903) 1,602,236 1,829,777
$ (39,411) $ (3,964) 1,794,161 2,042,929
27,104 19,032
$ 1,821,265 2,061,961
$ 191,925 213,152
8,072 8,185
$ 199,997 221,337
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OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for Services and Other Revenues
OPERATING EXPENSES

Long-Term Purchased Power

Short-Term Wholesale Power Purchases
Generation

Transmission

Distribution

Conservation and Other Power Expenses
Planning and Development

Utility Systems Management

Field Operations

Project Delivery

Customer Services

Wastewater Treatment

Solid Waste Collection

Operations and Maintenance

General and Administrative

City Business and Occupation Taxes
Other Taxes

Amortization of Landfill and Postclosure Costs
Depreciation and Other Amortization
Total Operating Expenses

Operating Income (Loss)
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment and Interest Income

Interest Expense

Amortization of Bonds Premiums and Discounts, Net

Amortization of Refunding Loss

Bond Issuance Costs

Gain (Loss) on Sale of Capital Assets
Contributions and Grants

Others, Net

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)

Governmental Activities -
Internal Service Funds

Income (Loss) Before Capital Contributions and Grants, Transfers,

and Special Items
Capital Contributions and 